
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 
  

  
please ask for Martha Clampitt 

direct line 0300 300 4032 
date 16 February 2010  

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

 
Date & Time 

Wednesday, 17 February 2010 2.00 p.m.* 
 

Venue at 
Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford 

 
 

 
Richard Carr 
Chief Executive 

 
To:     The Chairman and Members of the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE: 
 

Cllrs P F Vickers (Chairman), A Shadbolt (Vice-Chairman), P N Aldis, A R Bastable, 
R D Berry, A D Brown, Mrs C F Chapman MBE, D J Gale, Mrs R B Gammons, 
K Janes, D Jones, H J Lockey, K C Matthews, Ms C Maudlin, A Northwood, 
A A J Rogers, Mrs C Turner and J N Young 
 

 
[Named Substitutes: 
 
R A Baker, D Bowater, I Dalgarno, P A Duckett, M Gibson, R W Johnstone, 
P Snelling, B J Spurr, J Street and G Summerfield 
 

 
 

All other Members of the Council - on request 
 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 
MEETING 

 
 
 

*As there are no Strategic Planning or Minerals and Waste Matters to be considered 
the meeting will start at 2.00p.m. 



 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  

Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members 
 

2. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
  

If any 
 

3. MINUTES 
  

To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Development Management Committee held on 20 January 2010. 

(previously circulated) 
 
 

4. MEMBERS' INTERESTS 
  

To receive from Members declarations and the nature in relation to:-  
 

(a) Personal Interests in any Agenda item 
 

(b) Personal and Prejudicial Interests in any Agenda item 
 

(c) Membership of Parish/Town Council consulted upon during the 
application process and the way in which any Member has cast his/her 
vote. 
 

 
 

5. PETITIONS 
  

To receive Petitions in accordance with the schem of public participation set 
out in Annex 2 in Part A4 of the Constitution. 
 

6. DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION 
  

To consider proposals, if any, to deal with any item likely to involve disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraph(s) of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 prior to the exclusion of the 
press and public. 
 



 
 

REPORT 
 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

7 Planning Enforcement Cases Where Formal Action Has 
Been Taken 
To consider the report of the Director of Sustainable 
Communities providing a monthly update of planning 
enforcement cases where action has been taken covering the 
North, South and Minerals and Waste. 
 

 7 - 16 

8 Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 (Land 
at the rear of 22 Heath Park Drive, Leighton Buzzard) 
 
To request that the Committee consider the unresolved 
objection made from Mr & Mrs Grasby of 25 Heath Park Drive 
following the making of Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 
and to confirm the Order without modification. 
 
 

 17 - 20 

 Planning and Related Applications  

To consider the planning applications contained in the following schedules: 

 Schedule A - Applications recommended for 
Refusal 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

9 Planning Application No. CB/09/07039/FULL 
 
Address: Shuttleworth College, Old Warden Park, Old 
Warden 
 

Full: The erection of marquee in Old Warden 
Park for Summer Weddings with car parking in the 
Old Walled Garden from 1 May to 30 September in 
the years 2010 – 2014 and the installation of a 
septic tank. 

 
Applicant: Bedford College 
  
 

 21 - 28 



 
 Schedule B - Applications recommended for 

Approval 
 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

10 Planning Application No. CB/09/07065/FULL 
 
Address: Elm Lodge, 18 Stoke Road, 20 Stoke Road and 

Elmside, Bossington Lane, Linslade, Leighton 
Buzzard 

 
Demolition of number 20 Stoke Road and Elmside, 
Bossington Lane and erection of single and two 
storey extensions to Elm Lodge residential nursing 
home (revised application CB/09/06271/FULL). 

 
Applicant: Nanco Enterprises Ltd. 
 

 29 - 46 

11 Planning Application No. CB/09/06388 
 
Address: The Gables, Mill Lane, Potton 
 

Reserved Matters: Residential development 
following demolition of existing dwelling and 
outbuildings comprising the erection of 13 no. 3 
bedroom dwellings and 1 no. 1 bedroom dwelling 
(pursuant to outline planning permission 
06/0833/OUT).  Matters to be considered are 
access, appearance, layout and scale. 

 
Applicant: Vigor Homes 
 
 

 47 - 62 

 
Schedule C - Other Applications 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

12 Planning Application No. CB/09/06583/CA 
 
Address :  Clubhouse, Rectory Road, Steppingley 
 
 Conservation Area Consent: 
 Demolition of existing Cricket Pavilion with new 

building.  
 
Applicant : Steppingley Parish Council 
  
 

 63 - 68 



 
13 Planning Application No. CB/09/06581/FULL 

 
Address: Clubhouse, Rectory Road, Steppingley 
 
  FULL: Erection of new Cricket Pavilion to replace 
existing. 
 
Applicant: Steppingley Parish Council 
 
 

 69 - 74 

14 Site Inspection Appointment(s) 
 
In the event of any decision having been taken during the 
meeting requiring the inspection of a site or sites, the Committee 
is invited to appoint  Members to conduct the site inspection 
immediately preceding the next meeting of this Committee to be 
held on 10 March 2010 having regard to the guidelines 
contained in the Code of Conduct for Planning Procedures. 
 
In the event of there being no decision to refer any site for 
inspection the Committee is nevertheless requested to make a 
contingency appointment in the event of any Member wishing to 
exercise his or her right to request a site inspection under the 
provisions of the Members Planning Code of Good Practice. 
 
 

  



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
Meeting: Development Management Committee 

Date: 17th February 2010 

Subject: Planning Enforcement cases where formal action has 
been taken 
 

Report of: Director of Sustainable Communities 
 

Summary: The report provides a monthly update of planning enforcement 
cases where formal action has been taken  
 
 
 

 
 
Contact Officer: Sue Cawthra (Tel: 01462 611369) 

Public/Exempt: Public  

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 

To receive the monthly update of Planning Enforcement cases where formal action 
has been taken 
 
 
 
Background 
 
(a) This is the update of planning enforcement cases where Enforcement Notices 

and other formal notices have been served and there is action outstanding. The 
list does not include closed cases where members have already been notified 
that the notices have been complied with or withdrawn. 
 

(b) The list briefly describes the breach of planning control, dates of action and 
further action proposed.  
 

(c) Members will be automatically notified by e-mail of planning enforcement cases 
within their Wards. For further details of particular cases please contact Sue 
Cawthra on 01462 611369. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7
Page 7



 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 
This is a report for noting ongoing enforcement action.  
 
Financial: 

None 
 
Legal: 

None 
 
Risk Management: 

None 
 
Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

None 
 
Equalities/Human Rights: 

None 
 
Community Safety: 

None 
 
Sustainability: 

None 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – (Planning Enforcement Formal Action Spreadsheet – North & South) 
Appendix B – (Planning Enforcement Formal Action – Minerals & Waste)  

 

Agenda Item 7
Page 8



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

1

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
05

55
S

at
co

P
la

st
ic

Lt
d,

S
at

co
H

ou
se

,U
ni

t7
A

rg
an

pa
rk

,
F

os
te

r
A

ve
nu

e,
D

un
st

ab
le

B
re

ac
h

of
C

on
di

tio
n

N
ot

ic
e,

co
nd

iti
on

7
S

B
/T

P
/0

4/
00

81
8,

ch
an

ge
of

us
e

to
B

2.
2n

d
N

ot
ic

e
is

su
ed

8-
D

ec
-0

9
8-

D
ec

-0
9

18
-J

an
-1

0
P

la
nn

in
g

pe
rm

is
si

on
09

/0
57

70
/F

U
LL

.D
oe

s
no

t
re

so
lv

e
B

2
us

e.
C

he
ck

ou
tc

om
e

af
te

r
18

/0
1/

20
10

2

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
10

15
La

nd
so

ut
h

of
P

on
d

F
ar

m
ho

us
e,

7
H

ig
h

S
tr

ee
t,

P
ul

lo
xh

ill

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
un

au
th

or
is

ed
ca

rr
yi

ng
ou

to
f

en
gi

ne
er

in
g

op
er

at
io

ns
an

d
w

or
ks

co
ns

is
tin

g
of

ex
ca

va
tio

n
of

si
te

.

30
-N

ov
-0

9
11

-J
an

-1
0

10
-F

eb
-1

0
A

pp
ea

lR
ec

iv
ed

08
/0

1/
20

10
A

w
ai

to
ut

co
m

e
of

A
pp

ea
l

3

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
10

46

C
as
e
C
lo
se
d

La
nd

at
63

H
itc

hi
n

R
oa

d,
S

to
tfo

ld
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

e
-

T
he

ke
ep

in
g

of
po

ni
es

w
ith

ou
t

pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si

on
.

30
-S

ep
-0

9
28

-O
ct

-0
9

25
-N

ov
-0

9
A

llo
w

ed
A

pp
ea

lA
llo

w
ed

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

t
no

tic
e

Q
ua

sh
ed

4

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
10

79
A

rc
ad

e
N

ur
se

ry
,A

50
7

S
to

tfo
ld

R
oa

d,
A

rle
se

y
B

O
C

N
-

br
ea

ch
of

co
nd

iti
on

3,
no

re
ta

il
sa

le
s

21
-O

ct
-0

9
21

-O
ct

-0
9

20
-N

ov
-0

9
P

la
nn

in
g

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

09
/0

67
00

/fu
ll

su
bm

itt
ed

fo
r

ex
te

ns
io

n
an

d
re

ta
il

sa
le

s
R

ef
us

ed
18

/0
1/

20
10

5

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
11

57
La

nd
at

19
S

un
do

n
R

oa
d,

S
tr

ea
tle

y
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

e
-

er
ec

tio
n

of
br

ic
k-

bu
ilt

tw
o-

st
or

ey
bu

ild
in

g.

30
-N

ov
-0

9
11

-J
an

-1
0

5-
A

pr
-1

0
A

pp
ea

lR
ec

iv
ed

12
/0

1/
20

10
A

pp
ea

ln
ot

ac
ce

pt
ed

by
P

IN
S

-
O

ut
of

tim
e

6

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
12

68
18

M
at

th
ew

S
tr

ee
t

B
re

ac
h

of
C

on
di

tio
n

N
ot

ic
e

4-
Ja

n-
10

4-
Ja

n-
10

3-
F

eb
-1

0
C

he
ck

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e

af
te

r
3-

F
eb

-
10

7

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
13

78
Lo

ng
Y

ar
d,

D
un

st
ab

le
R

oa
d,

S
tu

dh
am

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
R

es
id

en
tia

lu
se

of
ba

rn
4-

Ja
n-

10
1-

F
eb

-1
0

2-
M

ay
-1

0
A

w
ai

tin
g

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

fo
r

re
si

de
nt

ia
lu

se
of

ba
rn

8

C
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
14

67
La

nd
to

th
e

re
ar

of
19

7
H

itc
hi

n
R

oa
d,

A
rle

se
y

T
em

po
ra

ry
S

to
p

N
ot

ic
e

-
F

ai
lu

re
to

su
bm

it
de

ta
ils

re
qu

ire
d

by
co

nd
iti

on
2

of
pe

rm
is

si
on

C
B

/0
9/

05
91

4/
F

U
LL

03
-D

ec
-0

9
03

-D
ec

-0
9

W
ill

m
on

ito
r

su
bm

is
si

on
of

de
ta

ils
.N

ot
ic

e
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

un
til

31
/1

2/
09

9

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

4/
02

82
La

nd
at

E
to

nb
ur

y
F

ar
m

,
A

50
7,

A
rle

se
y

U
na

ut
ho

ris
ed

dw
el

lin
g.

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

no
t

co
m

pl
ie

d
w

ith
.

6-
D

ec
-0

6
10

-J
an

-0
7

10
-A

pr
-0

7
12

-D
ec

-0
6

5-
D

ec
-0

7
A

pp
ea

l
di

sm
is

se
d.

H
ig

h
C

ou
rt

up
he

ld
In

sp
ec

to
rs

de
ci

si
on

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

ha
s

no
t

be
en

co
m

pl
ie

d
w

ith
.F

ul
l

as
se

ss
m

en
tm

ad
e

of
al

te
rn

at
iv

e
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n.

F
ur

th
er

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

re
ce

iv
ed

.A
w

ai
to

ut
co

m
e

C
B

/0
9/

07
04

0/
F

U
LL

P
ag

e
1

Agenda Item 7
Page 9



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

10

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

5/
01

78
La

nd
at

M
au

ld
en

G
ar

de
n

C
en

tr
e,

W
at

er
E

nd
,M

au
ld

en
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

e
-

ch
an

ge
of

us
e

fr
om

nu
rs

er
y

to
ga

rd
en

ce
nt

re
,c

af
é

an
d

ou
td

oo
r

st
or

ag
e,

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

of
6

bu
ild

in
gs

,s
iti

ng
of

m
ob

ile
ho

m
e.

9-
A

pr
-0

9
9-

M
ay

-0
9

9-
N

ov
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
7-

M
ay

-0
9

A
w

ai
to

ut
co

m
e

of
In

qu
iry

-
3r

d,
4t

h
an

d
5t

h
F

eb
ru

ar
y

20
10

.

11

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

6/
00

78
T

yt
he

B
ar

n,
W

oo
d

E
nd

,
T

in
gr

ith
C

ha
ng

e
of

us
e

of
la

nd
to

re
ta

il
sa

le
s

&
2

tim
be

r
sh

ow
ro

om
s

19
-M

ay
-0

8
19

-J
un

-0
8

20
-M

ay
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
w

ith
dr

aw
n,

ex
te

ns
io

n
ag

re
ed

to
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e

P
la

nn
in

g
pe

rm
is

si
on

fo
r

ba
rn

ex
te

ns
io

n,
cu

rr
en

tly
be

in
g

bu
ilt

.

1
ca

bi
n

re
m

ov
ed

,2
nd

ca
bi

n
em

pt
y

to
be

re
m

ov
ed

w
he

n
so

ld

12

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

6/
02

44
La

nd
at

T
he

G
re

en
M

an
,

B
ro

om
R

oa
d,

S
ta

nf
or

d
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

e
-

K
itc

he
n

ex
tr

ac
to

r
fa

n
du

ct
,&

2
m

as
ts

su
pp

or
tin

g
se

cu
rit

y
ca

m
er

as
an

d
flo

od
lig

ht
in

g.

9-
D

ec
-0

8
9-

Ja
n-

09
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
4/

2/
09

26
-N

ov
-0

9
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
up

ho
ld

en
fo

rc
em

en
t

no
tic

e.
R

ev
is

ed
A

pp
in

bu
ti

nv
al

id
.

F
ur

th
er

di
sc

us
si

on
s

on
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e.
R

ev
is

ed
pl

an
ni

ng
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
re

ce
iv

ed
.

13

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

7/
00

85
W

oo
dv

ie
w

N
ur

se
rie

s,
S

he
ffo

rd
R

d,
M

ep
pe

rs
ha

ll
M

ob
ile

ho
m

e
&

co
ns

er
va

to
ry

21
-J

an
-0

8
19

-F
eb

-0
8

19
-A

ug
-0

8
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
.

H
ea

rin
g

14
-O

ct
-0

8

3-
A

pr
-1

0
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
up

ho
ld

en
fo

rc
em

en
t

no
tic

e

O
m

bu
ds

m
an

co
m

pl
ai

nt
,n

o
m

al
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n

14

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

8/
02

14
La

nd
&

B
ui

ld
in

gs
at

Lo
w

er
W

oo
d

F
ar

m
,S

un
do

n
R

d,
H

ar
lin

gt
on

B
re

ac
h

of
co

nd
iti

on
s

to
P

er
m

is
si

on
s

02
/0

05
53

&
06

/0
01

52
.

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

t
N

ot
ic

e
-

ou
ts

id
e

st
or

ag
e

&
po

rt
ac

ab
in

s

15
-D

ec
-0

8
12

-J
an

-0
9

12
-F

eb
-0

9
La

nd
no

w
cl

ea
re

d
of

ve
hi

cl
es

aw
ai

tin
g

re
pa

ir.
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
t

N
ot

ic
e

co
m

pl
ie

d.

A
w

ai
tin

g
fu

rt
he

r
pl

an
ni

ng
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
fo

r
ea

rt
h

bu
nd

,h
ar

d
su

rf
ac

e,
un

it
ex

te
ns

io
n,

an
d

na
m

ed
oc

cu
pa

nt
s

of
un

its
,p

re
-

ap
p

re
ce

iv
ed

.

15

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

8/
03

73
La

nd
at

S
ilv

er
La

ke
F

ar
m

,
S

ta
nf

or
d

La
ne

,C
lif

to
n

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e-

ch
an

ge
of

us
e

to
re

si
de

nt
ia

la
nd

ch
an

ge
of

us
e

as
se

lf
co

nt
ai

ne
d

dw
el

lin
g.

9-
F

eb
-0

9
9-

M
ar

-0
9

9-
S

ep
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
25

-F
eb

-0
9

21
-J

an
-1

0
A

pp
ea

ls
di

sm
is

se
d,

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

In
pr

oc
es

s
of

pu
rc

ha
si

ng
/r

en
ov

at
in

g
pr

op
er

ty
to

m
ov

e
to

16

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

8/
03

81
La

nd
an

d
B

ui
ld

in
gs

on
th

e
W

es
ts

id
e

of
F

ou
nd

ry
La

ne
,

B
ig

gl
es

w
ad

e

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
ch

an
ge

of
us

e
to

ha
nd

ca
r

w
as

h
22

-D
ec

-0
8

22
-J

an
-0

9
22

-F
eb

-0
9

La
te

ap
pe

al
no

t
ac

ce
pt

ed
by

P
IN

S

N
ew

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

re
ce

iv
ed

09
/0

61
35

/fu
ll

A
w

ai
to

ut
co

m
e

of
pl

an
ni

ng
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n.

17

M
B

/E
N

C
/0

9/
00

34
La

nd
at

W
hi

ts
un

da
le

s
F

ar
m

2
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

es
-

C
ha

ng
e

of
us

e
to

st
or

ag
e,

er
ec

tio
n

of
ha

rd
st

an
di

ng
+

A
cc

es
s

17
-D

ec
-0

9
17

-J
an

-1
0

va
rio

us
up

to
17

-
A

pr
-1

0
A

pp
ea

lr
ec

iv
ed

12
/0

1/
20

10
A

w
ai

to
ut

co
m

e
of

A
pp

ea
l

18

S
B

/E
N

C
/0

7/
00

12
La

nd
re

ar
of

P
ac

kh
or

se
P

la
ce

,W
at

lin
g

S
tr

ee
t,

K
en

sw
or

th

C
ha

ng
e

of
us

e
of

la
nd

fo
r

th
e

pa
rk

in
g

of
ve

hi
cl

es
5-

N
ov

-0
7

5-
D

ec
-0

7
01

Ja
n

20
08

&
26

F
eb

20
08

21
-J

an
-0

8
28

Ju
l2

00
9

&
28

S
ep

20
09

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tc
om

pl
ia

nc
e

pe
rio

ds
ex

te
nd

ed
.

P
la

nn
in

g
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
C

B
/0

9/
07

01
1/

fu
ll

su
bm

itt
ed

in
ef

fo
rt

to
re

so
lv

e
br

ea
ch

P
ag

e
2

Agenda Item 7
Page 10



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

19

S
B

/E
N

C
/0

7/
00

59
La

nd
at

2A
M

ar
dl

e
R

oa
d,

Li
ns

la
de

,L
U

7
2U

T
.

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e,

un
au

th
or

is
ed

er
ec

tio
n

of
fe

nc
e

ex
ce

ed
in

g
1M

in
he

ig
ht

ad
ja

ce
nt

to
th

e
hi

gh
w

ay
.

20
-A

ug
-0

9
17

-S
ep

-0
9

15
-O

ct
-0

9
21

-S
ep

-0
9

12
-J

an
-1

0
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

F
en

ce
to

be
re

m
ov

ed
by

01
/0

7/
20

10

20

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

4/
00

02
La

nd
at

S
ta

nb
rid

ge
R

oa
d,

B
ill

in
gt

on
,L

ei
gh

to
n

B
uz

za
rd

C
ha

ng
e

of
U

se
of

la
nd

fo
r

st
at

io
ni

ng
of

ca
ra

va
ns

an
d

m
ob

ile
ho

m
es

10
-F

eb
-0

4
12

-M
ar

-0
4

12
-J

un
-0

4
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
30

/0
3/

20
04

31
-A

ug
-0

5
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
en

fo
rc

em
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

S
ec

tio
n

C
ap

pe
al

di
sm

is
se

d,
P

lo
t7

ap
pe

al
di

sm
is

se
d

-
W

ith
Le

ga
lf

or
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

21

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

4/
00

03
La

nd
at

S
ta

nb
rid

ge
R

oa
d,

B
ill

in
gt

on
,L

ei
gh

to
n

B
uz

za
rd

La
yi

ng
of

H
ar

dc
or

e
an

d
ta

rm
ac

,e
re

ct
io

n
of

fe
ci

ng
an

d
in

st
al

la
tio

n
of

se
rv

ic
es

10
-F

eb
-0

4
12

-M
ar

-0
4

12
-J

un
-0

4
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
30

/0
3/

20
04

31
-A

ug
-0

5
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
en

fo
rc

em
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

S
ec

tio
n

C
ap

pe
al

di
sm

is
se

d,
P

lo
t7

ap
pe

al
di

sm
is

se
d

-
W

ith
Le

ga
lf

or
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

22

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

4/
00

04
La

nd
at

S
ta

nb
rid

ge
R

oa
d,

B
ill

in
gt

on
,L

ei
gh

to
n

B
uz

za
rd

C
ha

ng
e

of
U

se
of

la
nd

fo
r

st
at

io
ni

ng
of

ca
ra

va
ns

an
d

m
ob

ile
ho

m
es

10
-F

eb
-0

4
12

-M
ar

-0
4

12
-J

un
-0

4
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
30

/0
3/

20
04

31
-A

ug
-0

5
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
en

fo
rc

em
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

S
ec

tio
n

C
ap

pe
al

di
sm

is
se

d,
P

lo
t7

ap
pe

al
di

sm
is

se
d

-
W

ith
Le

ga
lf

or
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

23

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

4/
00

05
La

nd
at

S
ta

nb
rid

ge
R

oa
d,

B
ill

in
gt

on
,L

ei
gh

to
n

B
uz

za
rd

La
yi

ng
of

H
ar

dc
or

e
an

d
ta

rm
ac

,e
re

ct
io

n
of

fe
nc

in
g

an
d

in
st

al
la

tio
n

of
se

rv
ic

es

10
-F

eb
-0

4
12

-M
ar

-0
4

12
-J

un
-0

4
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
30

/0
3/

20
04

31
-A

ug
-0

5
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
en

fo
rc

em
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

S
ec

tio
n

C
ap

pe
al

di
sm

is
se

d,
P

lo
t7

ap
pe

al
di

sm
is

se
d

-
W

ith
Le

ga
lf

or
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

24

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

4/
00

07
La

nd
re

ar
of

F
an

co
tt

C
ot

ta
ge

s,
Lu

to
n

R
oa

d,
T

od
di

ng
to

n

E
re

ct
io

n
of

T
im

be
r

C
la

d
B

ui
ld

in
g

fo
r

re
si

de
nt

ia
l

pu
rp

os
es

&
la

yi
ng

of
ha

rd
co

re
su

rf
ac

e

8-
S

ep
-0

4
08

-O
ct

-0
4

08
-J

an
-0

5
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
01

N
ov

20
04

N
o

C
ha

ng
e

A
pp

ea
lw

ith
dr

aw
n.

S
B

/T
P

/0
5/

12
17

&
S

ec
tio

n
10

6
A

gr
ee

m
en

t
ap

pr
ov

ed
al

lo
w

in
g

2

N
ew

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

re
ce

iv
ed

25
S

B
/E

N
F

/0
4/

00
08

La
nd

re
ar

of
F

an
co

tt
C

ot
ta

ge
s,

Lu
to

n
R

oa
d,

T
od

di
ng

to
n

C
ha

ng
e

of
U

se
fr

om
ag

ric
ul

tu
ra

lf
or

st
at

io
ni

ng
of

m
ob

ile
ho

m
e

&
st

or
ag

e
of

m
ac

hi
ne

ry
/b

ui
ld

in
g

m
at

er
ia

ls

8-
S

ep
-0

4
08

-O
ct

-0
4

08
-J

an
-0

5
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
01

N
ov

20
04

N
o

C
ha

ng
e

A
pp

ea
lw

ith
dr

aw
n.

S
B

/T
P

/0
5/

12
17

&
S

ec
tio

n
10

6
A

gr
ee

m
en

t
ap

pr
ov

ed
al

lo
w

in
g

2

N
ew

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

re
ce

iv
ed

26

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

5/
00

05
21

5
C

om
m

on
R

oa
d,

K
en

sw
or

th
E

re
ct

io
n

of
a

do
ub

le
ga

ra
ge

an
d

st
or

er
oo

m
16

-M
ar

-0
5

18
-A

pr
-0

5
18

-J
ul

-0
5

6-
M

ay
-0

5
6-

A
ug

-0
5

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
&

en
fo

rc
em

en
tn

ot
ic

e
up

he
ld

N
o

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e,

to
as

se
ss

fo
r

fu
rt

he
r

ac
tio

n.
P

C
N

se
nt

02
.1

1.
09

,n
o

re
sp

on
se

to
P

C
N

.
C

as
e

se
nt

to
le

ga
lt

o
co

m
m

en
ce

pr
os

ec
ut

io
n.

27

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

5/
00

07
Lo

ng
Y

ar
d,

D
un

st
ab

le
R

oa
d,

S
tu

dh
am

U
na

ut
ho

ris
ed

st
at

io
ni

ng
of

m
ob

ile
ho

m
e

fo
r

re
si

de
nt

ia
l

us
e

29
-J

ul
-0

5
1-

S
ep

-0
5

1-
D

ec
-0

5
28

-S
ep

-0
5

28
-D

ec
-0

5
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

&
en

fo
rc

em
en

tn
ot

ic
e

up
he

ld

A
w

ai
tin

g
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
fo

r
re

si
de

nt
ia

lu
se

of
ba

rn

28

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

6/
00

01
La

nd
at

34
T

he
R

ye
,E

at
on

B
ra

y
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

of
an

ar
ea

of
ha

rd
st

an
di

ng
4-

M
ay

-0
6

6-
Ju

n-
06

6-
S

ep
-0

6
25

-J
un

-0
6

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tp
er

io
d

of
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e
ex

te
nd

ed

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
Le

ga
lt

o
as

se
ss

fo
r

fu
rt

he
r

ac
tio

n.

P
ag

e
3

Agenda Item 7
Page 11



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

29

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

7/
00

06
D

un
ed

in
,H

ar
lin

gt
on

R
oa

d,
T

od
di

ng
to

n
C

ha
ng

e
of

us
e

of
bu

ild
in

gs
to

be
ds

it
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n
10

-A
ug

-0
7

12
-S

ep
-0

7
4-

D
ec

-0
7

27
-S

ep
-0

7
9-

Ja
n-

09
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

bu
tp

er
io

d
of

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e

ex
te

nd
ed

to
9/

1/
09

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
di

sc
us

se
d

w
ith

Le
ga

l,
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

be
in

g
ta

ke
n.

30

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

7/
00

07
D

un
ed

in
,H

ar
lin

gt
on

R
oa

d,
T

od
di

ng
to

n
E

re
ct

io
n

of
bu

ild
in

g
an

d
al

te
ra

tio
n

an
d

ex
te

ns
io

n
of

tw
o

ot
he

r
bu

ild
in

gs

10
-A

ug
-0

7
12

-S
ep

-0
7

4-
D

ec
-0

7
27

-S
ep

-0
7

9-
Ja

n-
09

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tp
er

io
d

of
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e
ex

te
nd

ed
to

9/
1/

09

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
di

sc
us

se
d

w
ith

Le
ga

l,
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

be
in

g
ta

ke
n.

31

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

7/
00

08
D

un
ed

in
,H

ar
lin

gt
on

R
oa

d,
T

od
di

ng
to

n
F

ai
lu

re
to

co
m

pl
y

w
ith

C
on

di
tio

n
2

of
P

la
nn

in
g

P
er

m
is

si
on

S
B

/T
P

/9
8/

08
38

is
su

ed
31

D
ec

em
be

r
19

98

10
-A

ug
-0

7
12

-S
ep

-0
7

4-
D

ec
-0

7
27

-S
ep

-0
7

9-
Ja

n-
09

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tp
er

io
d

of
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e
ex

te
nd

ed
to

9/
1/

09

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
di

sc
us

se
d

w
ith

Le
ga

l,
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

be
in

g
ta

ke
n.

32

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

7/
00

09
12

-1
4

N
or

th
S

tr
ee

t,
Le

ig
ht

on
B

uz
za

rd
In

st
al

la
tio

n
of

S
ho

pf
ro

nt
on

fr
on

te
le

va
tio

n
of

pr
em

is
es

17
-A

ug
-0

7
19

-S
ep

-0
7

11
-D

ec
-0

7
N

ot
co

m
pl

ie
d

P
la

nn
in

g
pe

rm
is

si
on

re
fu

se
d

to
re

ta
in

D
is

cu
ss

io
ns

w
ith

O
ffi

ce
rs

to
ac

hi
ev

e
ac

ce
pt

ab
le

sh
op

fr
on

t

33

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

8/
00

03
B

ur
y

S
pi

nn
ey

,T
ho

rn
R

oa
d,

H
ou

gh
to

n
R

eg
is

U
se

of
of

fic
es

fo
r

re
si

de
nt

ia
l

pu
rp

os
es

3-
M

ar
-0

8
4-

A
pr

-0
8

2-
M

ay
-0

9
7-

M
ay

-0
8

22
-J

ul
-0

9
A

pp
ea

ld
is

m
is

se
d

bu
tc

om
pl

ia
nc

e
pe

rio
d

ex
te

nd
ed

to
6

m
on

th
s

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
co

ur
tw

ar
ra

nt
to

ga
in

ac
ce

ss
.

34

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

8/
00

06
La

nd
ad

ja
ce

nt
H

ill
si

de
,T

he
G

re
en

,W
hi

ps
na

de
C

ha
ng

e
of

U
se

fr
om

am
en

ity
la

nd
to

pr
iv

at
e

re
si

de
nt

ia
l&

en
cl

os
ur

e
od

la
nd

by
fe

nc
e

an
d

he
dg

e

9-
A

pr
-0

8
9-

M
ay

-0
8

5-
Ju

n-
08

13
-N

ov
-0

8
13

-F
eb

-0
9

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tc
om

pl
ia

nc
e

pe
rio

ds
ex

te
nd

ed

S
ub

st
an

tia
lp

ro
gr

es
s

in
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e.
F

ur
th

er
tid

yi
ng

an
d

pl
an

tin
g

ta
ki

ng
pl

ac
e.

35

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

8/
00

07
La

nd
ad

ja
ce

nt
H

ill
si

de
,T

he
G

re
en

,W
hi

ps
na

de
E

nc
lo

su
re

of
la

nd
an

d
la

yi
ng

of
he

dg
e

&
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
of

gr
av

el
to

pp
ed

ha
rd

su
rf

ac
in

g

9-
A

pr
-0

8
9-

M
ay

-0
8

5-
Ju

n-
08

13
-N

ov
-0

8
13

-F
eb

-0
9

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
bu

tc
om

pl
ia

nc
e

pe
rio

ds
ex

te
nd

ed

S
ub

st
an

tia
lp

ro
gr

es
s

in
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e.
F

ur
th

er
tid

yi
ng

an
d

pl
an

tin
g

ta
ki

ng
pl

ac
e.

36

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

8/
00

09
21

E
m

u
C

lo
se

,H
ea

th
&

R
ea

ch
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

of
si

ng
le

st
or

ey
fr

on
ta

nd
si

de
ex

te
ns

io
ns

an
d

lo
ft

co
nv

er
si

on

14
-A

pr
-0

8
14

-M
ay

-0
8

14
-A

ug
-0

8
20

-J
un

-0
8

4-
S

ep
-0

9
A

pp
ea

lp
ar

t
di

sm
is

se
d

N
ot

co
m

pl
ie

d,
di

sc
us

se
d

w
ith

Le
ga

l,
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

to
be

ta
ke

n.

37

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

9/
00

01
7

F
is

he
r

C
lo

se
,B

ar
to

n-
le

-
C

la
y

C
ha

ng
e

of
us

e
of

am
en

ity
la

nd
to

pr
iv

at
e

re
si

de
nt

ai
l

ga
rd

en
,e

nc
lo

su
re

of
la

nd
by

re
m

ov
al

of
he

dg
e,

an
d

er
ec

tio
n

of
fe

nc
e

11
-F

eb
-0

9
13

-M
ar

-0
9

7-
M

ay
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
20

-O
ct

-0
9

A
pp

ea
lD

is
m

is
se

d
-

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

to
be

co
m

pl
ie

d
w

ith
by

20
.1

1.
09

D
is

cu
ss

ed
ex

pe
di

en
cy

of
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

38

S
B

/E
N

F
/0

9/
00

02
8

F
is

he
r

C
lo

se
,B

ar
to

n-
le

-
C

la
y

C
ha

ng
e

of
us

e
of

am
en

ity
la

nd
to

pr
iv

at
e

re
si

de
nt

ai
l

ga
rd

en
,e

nc
lo

su
re

of
la

nd
by

re
m

ov
al

of
he

dg
e,

an
d

er
ec

tio
n

of
fe

nc
e

2-
F

eb
-0

9
4-

M
ar

-0
9

29
-A

pr
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
20

-O
ct

-0
9

A
pp

ea
lD

is
m

is
se

d
-

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

to
be

co
m

pl
ie

d
w

ith
by

20
.1

1.
09

D
is

cu
ss

ed
ex

pe
di

en
cy

of
fu

rt
he

r
ac

tio
n

P
ag

e
4

Agenda Item 7
Page 12



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

39

S
B

/E
N

Q
/0

8/
00

35
69

P
rin

ce
s

S
tr

ee
t,

D
un

st
ab

le
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
tN

ot
ic

e
-

F
ro

nt
an

d
re

ar
do

rm
er

s
4-

Ja
n-

10
1-

F
eb

-1
0

2-
M

ay
-1

0
C

he
ck

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e

af
te

r
2-

M
ay

-
10

40

S
B

/P
C

N
/0

8/
00

11
La

nd
at

W
oo

ds
id

e
F

ar
m

&
W

ild
F

ow
lP

ar
k,

M
an

cr
of

t
R

oa
d,

A
le

y
G

re
en

,L
ut

on

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
un

au
th

or
is

ed
en

gi
ne

er
in

g
w

or
ks

fo
r

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

of
ha

rd
st

an
di

ng
.

30
-N

ov
-0

9
11

-J
an

-1
0

V
ar

ie
d

re
ce

iv
ed

29
-

D
ec

-0
9

A
w

ai
to

ut
co

m
e

of
ap

pe
al

41

S
B

/P
C

N
/0

8/
00

11
La

nd
at

W
oo

ds
id

e
E

gg
s

an
d

A
ni

m
al

F
ar

m
,W

oo
ds

id
e

R
oa

d/
M

an
cr

of
tR

oa
d,

S
lip

E
nd

,L
ut

on

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
un

au
th

or
is

ed
ch

an
ge

of
us

e.
30

-N
ov

-0
9

11
-J

an
-1

0
V

ar
ie

d
re

ce
iv

ed
29

-
D

ec
-0

9
A

w
ai

to
ut

co
m

e
of

ap
pe

al

P
ag

e
5

Agenda Item 7
Page 13



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
17
th
F
eb
ru
ar
y
20
10
)

Minerals&waste

E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
C

A
S

E
N

O
.

LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
R

E
A

C
H

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
E

F
F

E
C

T
IV

E
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

A
P

P
E

A
L

N
E

W
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

D
A

T
E

R
E

S
U

LT
N

O
T

E
S

/F
U

R
T

H
E

R
A

C
T

IO
N

1

07
/4

0
F

or
m

er
B

R
G

oo
ds

Y
ar

d,
C

hi
lte

rn
G

re
en

R
oa

d,
E

as
t

H
yd

e

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
tim

be
r

fe
nc

e
at

w
as

te
tr

an
sf

er
st

at
io

n
pr

em
is

es
.

18
-M

ar
-0

9
24

-A
pr

-0
9

24
-J

un
-0

9
A

pp
ea

l
re

ce
iv

ed
23

-N
ov

-0
9

A
pp

ea
ld

is
m

is
se

d
an

d
en

fo
rc

em
en

t
no

tic
e

up
he

ld
.

P
la

nn
in

g
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
fo

r
an

al
te

rn
at

iv
e

no
n-

tim
be

r
fe

nc
e

re
ce

iv
ed

an
d

va
lid

at
ed

on
27

th
N

ov
em

be
r

20
09

.
N

ot
ye

t
de

te
rm

in
ed

.
F

ur
th

er
ac

tio
n

in
re

sp
ec

to
fn

ot
ic

e
pu

to
n

ho
ld

pe
nd

in
g

ou
tc

om
e

of
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n.

2

06
/6

7
F

or
m

er
F

ul
le

rs
E

ar
th

Q
ua

rr
y,

C
lo

ph
ill

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tN
ot

ic
e

-
fa

ilu
re

to
co

m
pl

et
e

th
e

ap
pr

ov
ed

re
st

or
at

io
n

sc
he

m
e

fo
r

th
e

si
te

an
d

pe
rm

it
pu

bl
ic

ac
ce

ss

2-
M

ay
-0

7
6-

Ju
n-

07
6-

O
ct

-0
7

A
pp

ea
l

re
ce

iv
ed

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

tn
ot

ic
e

qu
as

he
d

on
30

th
O

ct
ob

er
20

09
.

T
he

In
sp

ec
to

r
de

te
rm

in
ed

th
at

th
e

no
tic

e
w

as
in

va
lid

as
it

do
es

no
ts

pe
ci

fy
w

ith
su

ffi
ci

en
t

cl
ar

ity
th

e
st

ep
s

re
qu

ire
d

fo
r

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e.

It
is

op
en

to
th

e
C

ou
nc

il
to

is
su

e
a

re
vi

se
d

en
fo

rc
em

en
tn

ot
ic

e
an

d
th

at
co

ur
se

of
ac

tio
n

is
cu

rr
en

tly
un

de
r

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n
w

ith
th

e
C

ou
nc

il'
s

so
lic

ito
r.

P
ag

e
6

Agenda Item 7
Page 14



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
20
th
Ja
n
u
ar
y
20
10
)

P
ag

e
7

Agenda Item 7
Page 15



P
la
n
n
in
g
E
n
fo
rc
em
en
t
fo
rm
al
ac
ti
o
n
(D
M
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
20
th
Ja
n
u
ar
y
20
10
)

P
ag

e
8

Agenda Item 7
Page 16



 

 
 
 
Meeting: Development Management Committee 

Date:  
 

17  February 2010 

Subject: Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 
(Land at the rear of 22 Heath Park Drive, Leighton 
Buzzard) 
 

Report of: Andy Jones - Tree and Landscape Officer 

Summary: To request that the Committee consider the unresolved objection made 
from Mr & Mrs Grasby of 25 Heath Park Drive following the making of 
Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 and to confirm the Order without 
modification. 

 
 
Contact Officer: Andy Jones X 75161 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: Plantation, Leighton Buzzard 

Function of:  

 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

None 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Committee confirms the Tree Preservation Order, which was provisionally 
made for 6 months, and is due to expire on the 19th April 2010.   
 
 
Background 
 
1. The Tree Preservation Order (TPO) was instigated after the Council was 

contacted by the owner of 22 Heath Park Drive who wished to prune back the 
crowns of two large Oak trees at the rear of the property, back to the garden 
boundary line, and to reduce their height. The Council became concerned at 
this proposal since the appearance of Oaks can be adversely affected by 
pruning works and it was found that the trees were not protected by any Tree 
Preservation Order. A site visit was then arranged to investigate the matter. 
 

 A subsequent site visit was made on the 14th October 2009 when it was noted 
that the trees appeared to be within an area of enclosed footpath leading to 
Dovery Down School. It was also observed that several Birch trees in the same 
area of footpath had been topped with disfiguring results. The two Oak trees 
were found to be excellent mature specimens of fine shape and form, whose 
natural shape and appearance would be adversely affected by the proposed 
pruning works. This was especially significant with the trees being so close to 
the complainant’s garden boundary. In this situation, the amount of branches 

Agenda Item 8
Page 17



 

that could be removed (as part of exercising the common law right to prune 
overhangs) was considerable. It was observed that the overhanging branches 
were not causing any “actionable nuisance” as defined by case law and there 
was no justification for severe pruning works. 
 

 It was also recognised that the area was strongly wooded in character and the 
trees made a significant contribution to the amenity and character of the area, 
being visible from public areas, and that a Tree Preservation Order was 
justified. 
 

2. A TPO was then made on the two Oak trees for the reasons that:- 
 

•  The trees are located within a designated Area of Special Character, 
typified by residential areas enhanced by mature wooded gardens, and 
thereby make an important contribution to this Area of Special 
Character. 
 

•  The trees have strong individual merit, being excellent examples of the 
species and having fine shape and stature. 
 

•  The Oak trees are visible from the surrounding highway, footpaths and 
public open space areas and make a positive contribution to the visual 
amenity and character of the area. 
 

 

•  The Oak trees contribute to the surrounding wooded character typical 
of the area and are an important constituent of the wooded character in 
its wider setting. 
 

3. Following the serving of the TPO, an objection was received from Mr and Mrs E 
Grasby of 25 Heath Park Drive on the 7th November 2009. Their grounds for 
objections were based on the  following:- 
 

 

 •  The Order was made without a site visit involving the householders of 
22 and 25 Heath Park Drive and without examining the impact that the 
trees have on the houses and gardens of the two properties. 
 

 

 •  Oak tree T2 overhangs the garden by considerable amounts and due 
to its height and breadth makes the property dark and restricts the 
varieties of planting possible in the garden. 
 

 •  The Order appears to have been made without thought being given to 
any tree management of the two trees in question. The trees appear to 
have been allowed to grow completely out of control for years without 
any maintenance and husbandry. 
 

 •  It would appear to be an irresponsible and cavalier act on behalf of the 
Council to place a TPO on these two trees without first carrying out 
severe pruning to restrict the height and breadth. If either tree should 
fall then considerable damage would be caused. 
 

 •  The TPO has been made in an underhand manner in response to an 
honourable representation made by a neighbour. 
 

Agenda Item 8
Page 18



 

 •  The trees should be managed responsibly and the TPO prohibits any 
sort of work being done on them and the Council should prune the 
trees as a compromise. 
 

 The Tree & Landscape Officer’s reply to these points in respect of the objection 
were:- 
 

 •  Consultation site visits are not made prior to a TPO being served. This 
has proved counter productive in the past where damaging work has 
subsequently been carried out due to the forewarning that a TPO is 
about to be served. 
 

 •  Tree Preservation Orders apply to trees irrespective of the garden 
boundaries they may cross and are not just applicable to the property 
where the tree may be growing. A tree is protected in recognition of its 
contribution and stature to the overall local landscape. In respect of 
this, it is inevitable that a mature Oak will block light to adjacent 
gardens, and this is insufficient reason to severely prune a protected 
tree. Examples of justifiable reasons would include any direct conflict 
with the fabric of adjacent buildings, or if a tree has significant 
structural defects. 
 

 •  The purpose of this TPO was to prevent drastic and disfiguring pruning 
works being carried out by residents to their boundary line. This action 
is often unjustified and is harmful to trees. Severe pruning has 
regrettably already occurred to a number of Silver Birch trees within the 
curtilage of the school pathway, close to the boundaries of adjacent 
properties. This has been done to the detriment of their health and 
appearance, and will instigate other long-term problems for these trees. 
 

 •  It is regrettable that the Council is considered to have acted in an 
underhand manner in the serving of this TPO. By their very nature, the 
making of TPO’s can never be undertaken with mutual acceptance by 
all parties. It was the Council’s concerns in respect of the extent of 
works being proposed, and the history of previous pruning works, 
which prompted the making of this TPO. 
 

 •  It should be recognised that Dovery Down Lower School still retain 
independent responsibility for the maintenance of these trees and not 
Tree Officers of Central Bedfordshire Council. The making of this TPO 
does not prevent work from being carried out on a protective tree, 
provided it is done with the consent of the Local Planning Authority 
(Central Bedfordshire Council). If any resident wished to carry out work 
on any of these protected trees that overhang the garden, they may do 
so as part of the normal application process, where the reasons are 
evaluated and appropriate work is granted consent where considered 
justified, and where it would not harm the trees. 
 

5. The Oak trees were assessed under TEMPO (“Tree Evaluation Method for 
Preservation Orders”), which is a nationally recognised system, produced by an 
independent arboricultural consultant, where scores are allocated towards 
meeting certain criterial needs required to justify a TPO. The scoring produced 
by the valuation method indicates that any score between 11 to 14 points 

Agenda Item 8
Page 19



 

merits a “defensible TPO” and that any score over 15 points “Definitely merits a 
TPO”. Following  a survey on the 14th October 2009, it was found that each of 
the Oak trees had a score allocation of 20 Points, based on the fact that they 
were:- 
 

 - In good condition 
 - Had a retention span of between 40 to 100 years 
 - They are large or medium trees clearly visible to the public 
 - The trees are principal components of an arboricultural feature (Area of 

Special Character - typified by mature wooded gardens) 
 - There is a perceived threat to one or more of the trees 

 
6. Following the response from the Tree & Landscape Officer, there was no 

further correspondence received from the objectors, and the objection therefore 
remains unresolved. 

  
 
Appendices: Copy of Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 
 
 

Agenda Item 8
Page 20



CASE NO.

Date:  04:February:2010

Scale:  1:2500

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Agenda Item 9
Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 9 SCHEDULE A 

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/09/07039/FULL 
LOCATION Shuttleworth College, Old Warden Park, Old 

Warden 
PROPOSAL Full: The erection of marquee in Old Warden Park 

for summer weddings with car parking in the Old 
Walled Garden from 1st May to 30th September in 
the years 2010-2014 and the installation of a septic 
tank.  

PARISH  Old Warden 
WARD Northill and Blunham 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllr Maudlin & Cllr Turner 
CASE OFFICER  Samantha Boyd 
DATE REGISTERED  18 December 2009 
EXPIRY DATE  12 February 2010 
APPLICANT   Bedford College 
AGENT  Andrew Pym 
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

Cllr Maudlin – Significant local interest and 
implications for funding to the Shuttleworth Trust 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Full Application - Refused 

 
 
Site Location:  
 
 
The site lies within a Grade II* registered Historic Park and Garden and near to 
Shuttleworth Mansion, a Grade II* listed building.  The house is the work of Henry 
Clutton, a 19th century architect, and is considered to be a building of substantial 
heritage importance.   
 
The Old Warden Estate comprises around 1,862 hectares and is owned and 
managed by the Shuttleworth Trust.  It includes farmland and woodland, the Village 
of Old Warden, and the Historic Park.   Within the Park are a number of listed 
buildings, pleasure gardens, the Shuttleworth College and the Shuttleworth 
Collection and aerodrome.  Much of the Park and the village are within a 
Conservation Area.   
 
The Application: 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a marquee for 5 months (1 May to 
30th September).  The marquee would be sited to the north east of the Mansion 
House close to the Summer House and Sunken Garden.  It is 28 by 12 metres with 
a service tent and separate wc.  The application also includes the installation of a 
septic tank. The Old Walled Garden, to the south east of the marquee, is also 
included in this application and is to be used for parking.  Marriage ceremonies often 
take place in the Mansion or the Summer House with the marquee being the venue 
of the wedding party. 
 

Agenda Item 9
Page 23



It is proposed that the marquee would be used from 1st May to 30 September each 
year.  This permission seeks consent from 2010 to 2014 (inclusive). 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies (PPG & PPS) 
 
PPG15 Planning and the Historic Environment 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
 
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005) 
 
Bedfordshire Structure Plan 2011 
 
Central Bedfordshire (North) Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies 2009 
 
CS15:  DM13 Heritage in Development  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
 Design in Central Bedfordshire 2010 
  
Planning History 
 
03/01423/Full Erection of marquee from 1 April to 30 September each year 

to 30 September 2008 (retrospective) Refused 30 September 
2003. 

04/00589/Full Erection of marquee from 1 April to 30 September each year 
until 30 September.  Refused 20 May 2004. 

04/01367/Full Erection of marquee from 1 April to 30 September each year 
until 30 September 2009.  Approved 21 May 2005. 

08/02366/Full 
 
 
09/01207/Full 

Erection of marquee from 1 April to 30 September  each year 
from 2010-2014.Withdrawn 17/2/09 
Erection of marquee from 1 April to 30 September each year 
from 2010 - 2014.  Refused 23/07/09 

 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 
 

 
Old Warden Parish 
Council 

No comments received at time of writing report 

  
Neighbours No comments received at time of writing report 
  
 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Site notice displayed 11/1/2010 

Agenda Item 9
Page 24



Application advertised 
English Heritage 
 

08/01/10 
English Heritage have advised on the previous 
applications.  Concerns have been raised about the 
impact of the proposals on the character of the historic 
landscape and setting of the listed mansion. 

 
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are; 
   
  1          Background 
  2          Policy 
3 The effect upon the Historic Park and Garden and the setting of the Listed 

Building and the conservation area. 
4. The impact on neighbouring amenity. 
 
Considerations 
 
1        Background 
 

The marquee was granted temporary consent in 2004.  The permission 
allowed the siting of the marquee from 1 April to 30 September each year until 
September 2009.   Temporary consent was granted as a limited permission 
following the concerns of both English Heritage and the Council's Conservation 
Team with regard to the visual harm that the marquee would have on the wider 
landscape, the setting of the house, gardens and parkland.   The consent was 
granted with the view that the suitability of a marquee on the site  would be 
considered through the production of a Conservation Management Plan (CMP) 
for the site as a whole.   In addition, the temporary consent was granted on the 
basis that the marquee would not be seen when viewed from the wider 
landscape, and that it would not create traffic issues.   
 
The CMP is a long term management plan providing a vision for the future 
management of Old Warden Park.  It has been prepared by the Joint 
Management Group and external consultants in order to set out conservation 
management and policies which are needed to protect the historic estate.  The 
CMP has been in preparation since 2003.  To date the CMP has not been 
formally agreed with the Council and English Heritage.  A most recent draft 
version was submitted in December 2009 and is awaiting further discussion 
with English Heritage and the Conservation Team.   The document will be 
subject to public consultation prior to it being formally adopted. 
           

 2.      Policy 
 

Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy aims to protect, conserve and enhance 
Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas and Registered Parks and Gardens.  
Development Management Policy DM13 ensures that proposals for 
development relating to Listed Buildings and Registered Parks and Gardens 
will pay particular attention to the conservation of local features.   PPG15 - 
Planning and the Historic Environment states that 'planning authorities should 
protect registered parks and gardens'.  The guidance goes on to say 'The 
effect of proposed development on a registered park and garden or its setting 

Agenda Item 9
Page 25



is a material consideration in the determination of a planning application.' 
(para 2.24).   

 
 
3 The effect upon the Historic Park and Garden and the setting of the Listed 

Building and the conservation area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Visual impact 
 
Following the re-evaluation of the proposal, the concerns of the Council's 
Conservation Team and English Heritage are still valid.  The siting of the 
marquee is undoubtedly visible from a number of view points within the park 
itself, and from Old Warden village.  This is clearly evident from the 
photographs submitted with the application.   Whilst the position of the 
marquee is proposed to be altered, it would still be highly visible from a  
number of vantage points. 
 
The CMP,  prepared by the applicants own conservation consultants, refers to 
the marquee stating that 'the marquee does have an important role in 
generating significant income and relieving the pressure of events within the 
Mansion; but it does have a detrimental impact upon the landscape' (page 
157). 
 
Furthermore on page 75 of the document there is a plan that identifies key 
views across the gardens and pleasure grounds.   The site of the marquee is in 
close proximity to a key view identified on this plan.  The view of the marquee 
in this location would be clearly detrimental.  
 
It is considered that the marquee, given its siting, design and colour would 
have an adverse impact upon the visual appearance of the Listed Buildings, 
Conservation Areas and Registered Parks and Garden 
 
Traffic issues 
 
The use of the marquee is causing wear and tear to the grass of the historic 
parkland, detracting from the setting of the house, park and garden.  Damage 
which is also acknowledged by the applicants in the CMP.  Page 109 
comments - 'in 2005, access to the marquee followed a single route and this 
created another track in the park detracting from the views of the Mansion'. 
 
Although the car parking is now proposed to be within the walled garden, this 
area is some distance from the marquee. Servicing vehicles would still require 
access to the marquee, along with disabled parking provision.  There is no site 
location plan identifying an access route for servicing vehicles or provision for 
the disabled parking and access.  Additionally the proposed septic tank would 
require excavation, causing further harm to the parkland.   
 
Financial justification 
 
It is acknowledged that the marquee provides a significant proportion of income 
for the Shuttleworth Trust.  However this does not override the importance of 
protecting the site, which is of national importance, from detrimental proposals.   
The original permission provided five years for the Trust to address the 

Agenda Item 9
Page 26



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4 
 
 
 
 
 
5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

concerns of the marquee and make provisions for a more suitable solution.  
Given that the draft CMP is considered by the applicants to be in its final 
stages, there is no mention of a suitable replacement venue for weddings.  The 
CMP notes that the visual intrusion of the marquee is reversible and other 
impacts can be mitigated by providing suitable infrastructure. When the 
temporary consent was granted in 2004, it was considered to be acceptable in 
the short term only.  It was never the intention of the Council to grant long term 
permission for a semi-permanent marquee that would have a detrimental 
impact upon the gardens and parkland and the adjacent listed building. 
 
The impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
There are some neighbouring properties located within the Park however the 
nearest is some distance away from the marquee therefore no adverse impact 
is likely to occur. 
 
Conclusion 
 
A further grant of permission would be seen as accepting a permanent 
marquee structure, reinforced by the installation of a septic tank for the 
marquee use.   The marquee would have a detrimental impact upon the 
landscape and the setting of the Grade II* listed building.  The visual impact of 
the marquee is also acknowledged by the applicants themselves.  
 
The siting  and design of the marquee would have a detrimental impact on the 
Historic Park and Garden and would neither preserve or enhance the 
conservation area.  Therefore, given the above considerations the proposal is 
considered to be unacceptable, contrary to advice given in PPG15 and Policies 
CS15 and DM13 of the Core Strategy.  As such refusal is recommended. 

 
Reasons for Refusal 
 
 

1 The siting of the marquee, due to its design and colour, would have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on the Historic Park and Garden, the setting of 
the adjacent Listed Building and would neither preserve or enhance the 
conservation area; as such the proposal is contrary to  PPG15 and Policies 
CS15 and DM13 of the Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies Document (2009).  
 

 
DECISION 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 

Agenda Item 9
Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



CASE NO.

Date:  04:February:2010

Scale:  1:1250

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

90.8m

LB

47

HARCOURT

24

CLOSE

6

1

Kwee-Beck

Treetops

18

22

Nursing Home

Elmside

12
18

20

B
O

S
S

IN
G

TO
N

 L
A

N
E

9

FAULKNER'S WAY

11

1

El Sub Sta

86

13

60
to

56

36

to

32

1 to 27

The Elms

39
37

37
a

93.9m

2

S
T

O
K

E
 R

O
A

D

25

89.6m43a
45

47

43

90.8m

1

41

OLD ROAD 30

27

37

F
A

U
LK

N
E

R
'S

 W
A

Y

26

22

24

Cottage

Whitewheel

The Bungalow

Whichello's Wharf

17

15

W
hi

ch
el

lo
's

 W
ha

rf

N

S

W E

Agenda Item 10
Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 10 SCHEDULE B 

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/09/07065/FULL 
LOCATION Elm Lodge, 18 Stoke Road, 20 Stoke Road and 

Elmside, Bossington Lane, Linslade, Leighton 
Buzzard, LU7 2SW 

PROPOSAL Demolition of number 20 Stoke Road and 
Elmside, Bossington Lane and erection of 
single and two storey extensions to Elm Lodge 
residential nursing home (revised application 
CB/09/06271/FULL).  

PARISH  Leighton-Linslade 
WARD Leighton Linslade Central 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllrs Bowater, Johnstone, Sharer & Spurr 
CASE OFFICER  Mr A D Robertson 
DATE REGISTERED  24 December 2009 
EXPIRY DATE  18 February 2010 
APPLICANT  Nanco Enterprises Ltd 
AGENT  Burnel Design Associates 
REASON FOR COMMITTEE 
TO DETERMINE 

  
 Called in by Councillor Bowater 

RECOMMENDED DECISION Full Application - Granted 
 
 
Site Location:  
 
 Elm Lodge is a residential and nursing home located on the eastern side of Stoke 
Road, some 110m to the north of its junction with Faulkners Way. The property 
occupies a roughly rectangular shaped site which at the rear has a frontage to the 
unmade Bossington Lane. Immediately to the north of Elm Lodge are two detached 
houses, no.20 Stoke Road and 'Elmside', Bossington Lane. The application site 
comprises the combined curtilages of the three properties and has a frontage to 
Stoke Road of 41.0m and an average depth of some 82.0m. 
The curtilage of Elm Lodge and that of 20 Stoke Road lie within the Stoke Road 
Area of Special Character. 
 
The Application: 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the two detached houses and 
the erection of extensions to both the residential home at the front of the site and the 
nursing home to the rear. Additional car parking provision is also proposed at the 
front of the site. 
At the front of the site, mostly within the existing curtilage of 20 Stoke Road, the 
extension to the residential home would comprise an 'L' shaped two storey building 
in the style of the original Elm Lodge with a single storey element to the rear which 
provides the link to the existing building. The frontage building would have a width of 
12.3m and a depth of 10.1m with an overall height of 9.2m. The rear section would 
vary in width between 10.3m and 6.1m over its depth of 15.2m, with a height varying 
between 9.1m and 7.5m. This section of the extension would provide 14 additional 
en-suite bedrooms, new entrance, lift and other ancillary facilities. 
Attached to the rear of this building would be a single storey element comprising a 
lounge, meeting room, matrons office and a basement storage area. It would have a 

Agenda Item 10
Page 31



width varying between 6.5m and 9.0m, a depth of 14.4m and would incorporate a 
flat roof with a maximum height of 4.0m. 
At the rear of the site, partly within the curtilage of Elmside and partly within Elm 
Lodge it is proposed to erect a two storey extension to the nursing home measuring 
13.6m wide by 14.5m deep and incorporating a hipped roof, 7.5m high to the ridge. 
The extension would provide 13 additional en-suite bedrooms and a lounge. 
Additional parking spaces would be provided at the front of the site with access by 
way of the existing entrance to Elm Lodge. The vehicular accesses to both of the 
existing dwellings would be closed off. 
A statement in support of the application is attached as an appendix. 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies (PPG & PPS) 
PPS1 - Delivering Sustainable Development. 
PPS3 - Housing. 
PPG13 - Transport. 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
ENV7 - Quality in the Built Environment. 
 
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005) 
 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review Policies 
BE6 - Development in Areas of Special Character. 
BE8 - Design and Environmental Considerations. 
H2 - Provision for Housing via 'Fall-in' Sites. 
H3 - Meeting Local Housing Needs. 
H7 - Loss of Residential Accommodation. 
T10 - Parking in New Development. 
 
Planning History 
 
SB/TP/89/0989 Permission for change of use from day nursery and 

residential to nursing home. 
SB/TP/90/1015 Permission for two storey extension to residential home. 
SB/TP/93/0312 Permission for two storey extension to provide 15 bedroom 

nursing home. 
SB/TP/97/0500 Permission for two storey side extension and fire escape. 
SB/TP/99/0626 Permission for rear conservatory. 
SB/TP/00/0844 Permission for first floor extension to residential home. 
SB/TP/08/0461 Permission for fire escape enclosure. 
CB/09/6271/TP Application for demolition of two dwellings and erection of 

single and two storey extensions - Withdrawn. 
 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council 

No objection. 

  

Agenda Item 10
Page 32



Neighbours - 20,22 & 24 
Faulkners Way, Treetops, 
Bossington Lane, 22A 
Stoke Road and resident 
of The Martins. 

Object for reasons which can be summarised as 
follows:- 
− unsuitable commercial development in a residential 

area; 
− overdevelopment involving large overbearing 

extension out-of-keeping with the area; 
− loss of two family homes; 
− increased traffic; 
− loss of outlook and light, overlooking and loss of 

privacy; 
− noise, dust and nuisance due to demolition and 

construction works and construction traffic; 
− noise nuisance due to increased activity and 

distressed residents; 
− potential flood risk; 
− suitability of Bossington Lane to take construction 

traffic; 
− existing access onto Bossington Lane should be 

closed off; 
− concern that screen planting may not be undertaken. 

 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Tree and Landscape 
Officer 

No trees of merit are affected by the proposal. A line of 
Lime pollards and Holly on the boundary with 20 Stoke 
Road are not worthy of retention. An existing boundary 
hedge at the rear of the site provides useful screening 
and should be retained. The intended retention of the 
landscaping at the front of the site is welcomed. 
 

Highways Officer Detailed comments awaited.  No objection in principle. 
 

Environment Agency No comment with regard to flood risk but suggests that 
consideration be given to the need to investigate 
contamination. 

 
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are; 
 
1. Principle of the development. 
2 Impact on the character of the area, 
3. Impact on residential amenity. 
4. Highway safety and parking. 
 
Considerations 
 
1. Principle of the development. 
 The existing residential and nursing home is located within an otherwise wholly 

residential area and in this regard there are two main concerns raised by 
objectors in respect of the appropriateness of the proposed development, 
namely the commercial nature of the use of the building and the extension of the 
site leading to the loss of two existing dwellings. Whilst it is accepted that there 

Agenda Item 10
Page 33



is a commercial element to the proposal in that residents pay for their 
accommodation and care, the basic purpose of the building is to provide 
residential accommodation. If the proposed use is deemed to be commercial 
then the same could be said of any residential accommodation for which rent is 
paid to the owner. In respect of the second issue, although the proposed 
development involves the demolition of two family houses which might appear to 
be contrary to Policy H7 of the Local Plan Review, the provision of the additional 
accommodation within the residential and nursing homes would be likely to 
result in the release of a more than compensatory number of dwellings for family 
occupation. In this connection the applicant advises that a high proportion of 
residents come to Elm Lodge from their own homes. 
In Local Plan Review policy terms, Policy H3 requires that residential 
development should contribute to meeting the needs of the elderly, single and 
other small households and in relation to elderly persons accommodation it is 
recognised that there is likely to be a substantially increasing requirement for 
suitable housing accommodation for the elderly during the Plan period. 

 
2. Impact on the character of the area. 
 The impact of the proposed development in the street scene is a particularly 

important consideration in this case having regard to the location of a large part 
of the site within an Area of Special Character. This issue is most significant in 
respect of the Stoke Road frontage from which vantage point the development 
would have its greatest impact on the character and appearance of the area. In 
this connection the replacement of a 1960's built house of no special 
architectural merit by a well designed new building which reflects the attractive 
appearance and detailing of the adjoining Elm Lodge would be likely to enhance 
rather than detract from the special character of the street scene in this part of 
Stoke Road. Although the replacement building would have a significantly 
greater frontage width and footprint than the existing dwelling, its overall impact 
in the street scene would not be unduly overbearing or excessive. The retention 
and reinforcement of the existing planted area to the front of the site would also 
assist in ensuring that the character of the area is maintained. 
Whilst the overall extent of the proposed works is significantly greater in terms of 
building footprint than the existing dwellings, it is only the new frontage building 
that impacts on the Area of Special Character. The single storey section in the 
centre of the site would be hidden from general view  by the two storey elements 
to the front and rear. The rear extension is not located within the Area of Special 
Character and although it is accepted that its visual impact from the Bossington 
Lane frontage is greater than the existing dwelling to be demolished, that impact 
would be no greater than the impact of the existing nursing home which was 
built on a vacant site. Notwithstanding this point, discussions have taken place 
with the applicant with a view to reducing the massing of the rear extension and 
we will report further on that matter at Committee. 

 
3. Impact on residential amenity. 
 The main concerns in relation to the impact of the proposal on adjoining 

properties is in terms of visual impact, overlooking and loss of privacy. The only 
property directly affected by the sections of the development within the present 
curtilage of 20 Stoke Road is the adjoining property no.22. In order to minimise 
the impact of the proposed new building the following measures were 
incorporated within the originally conceived scheme and subsequently 
negotiated amendments:- 
− the side elevation of the main frontage building would be set in further from 

Agenda Item 10
Page 34



the common boundary than the existing dwelling; 
− the rear projections of the frontage building are stepped back from the 

boundary and their roof heights are lowered as they extend further into the 
site; 

− there is only one first floor window within the side elevation of the rear 
projection and that would be at a high level and be obscure glazed; 

− the width of the single storey central section of the extension has been 
reduced by up to 3.0m which, together with the retention of existing boundary 
screening minimises the visual impact of the building. 

The property in Bossington Lane most affected by the nursing home extension is 
Treetops, the adjoining house to the north of the site. In an attempt to reduce 
any adverse impact on that property in terms of overbearing appearance, the 
rear section of the new building adjacent to the common boundary would be 
single storey with a flat roof. The only windows in the north facing side elevation 
would serve bathrooms and would be obscure glazed. 
The neighbouring properties in Faulkners Way are set at a considerably lower 
level than the application site with Bossington Lane (which is 9.0m wide at this 
point) running between the respective rear boundaries which are defined in 
places by mature trees. The potential impact of the proposal on these properties 
is in relation to overlooking from first floor windows and overbearing appearance. 
Negotiations have recently taken place with the applicant in order to both reduce 
the bulk and visual impact of the building and to reduce the number of rear 
facing first floor windows.  We will report further on this matter at Committee. 

 
4. Highway safety and parking. 
 The Highway Officer has not provided detailed representations yet in connection 

with the current application, but is understood to raise no objection in principle.  
We will report further on this matter at Committee.  The existing dual access 
arrangement appears to operate satisfactorily and no significant increase in 
traffic movements is anticipated. The existing access serving 20 Stoke Road 
would be closed off as part of the proposal, as would the access onto 
Bossington Lane, the closures taking place on the completion of each phase of 
the development. 
The concerns regarding the suitability of Bossington Lane to take construction 
traffic is noted and has been discussed with the applicant. The same issue was 
raised at the time of the erection of the original nursing home extension fronting 
onto Bossington Lane and in order to address the concerns it is understood that 
the applicant arranged, where possible, for bulk loads of materials to be 
unloaded on Faulkners Way and transported to the site in reduced quantities. It 
is proposed to add an informative requesting that this practice be adopted in 
connection with the current proposal. 
The required level of parking provision is based on a combination of the number 
of staff employed and the number of residents. The total requirement for the 
existing homes and the proposed extensions is 21 spaces, a level of provision 
which can be met. 

 
Reasons for Granting 
 
The principle of the provision of such residential homes in residential areas is clearly 
acceptable, as is evident from the existing Elm Lodge residential and nursing homes 
and the recently built homes in St. Georges Close and Vandyke Road in Leighton 
Buzzard. It is also often the case, particularly in urban areas, that such 
accommodation is provided within buildings of considerable size in terms of floor area 

Agenda Item 10
Page 35



and site coverage, again as is the case of the two buildings referred to above, 
although in those examples the height of the buildings is not limited to two storeys. 
Among the representations received from neighbours is a suggestion that it would be 
more appropriate for the applicant to find an alternative site with more land, away from 
neighbours. This would not necessarily be a sustainable solution in terms of location, 
and would not enable the development to benefit from the use of facilities within the 
existing residential and nursing homes at Elm Lodge. 
It has been demonstrated that the proposed extensions would not have an adverse 
impact on the Area of Special Character, indeed it could be argued that the 
replacement building on the Stoke Road frontage would improve the character of the 
area.  
The scheme as originally submitted has previously been amended in an attempt to 
address the concerns of neighbours and further amendments have recently been 
negotiated. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Planning Permission be  GRANTED subject to the following: 
 

1 The development shall begin not later than three years from the date of this 
permission. 
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 

2 Before development begins, a landscaping scheme to include any hard 
surfaces and earth mounding shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented by the end of the full planting season immediately 
following the completion and/or first occupation or use of any separate 
section or phase of the development (a full planting season means the 
period from October to March). The trees, shrubs and grass shall 
subsequently be maintained for a period of five years from the date of 
planting and any which die or are destroyed during this period shall be 
replaced during the next planting season and maintained until 
satisfactorily established. 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping. 
(Policy BE8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

3 The existing trees and hedgerows shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, be retained and protected and shall not be 
destroyed, uprooted, felled, lopped or topped. Any trees or hedgerows 
removed without such consent or dying or being severely damaged or 
becoming seriously diseased shall be replaced by trees or hedgerow 
specimens of such size and species as may be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority. Such trees or hedgerow specimens shall subsequently 
be maintained for a period of five years from the date of planting and any 
which die or are destroyed during this period shall be replaced during the 
next planting season and maintained until satisfactorily established. 
REASON: To comply with Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990  and to safeguard existing trees on site. 
(Policy BE8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

4 Before any section of the development herby permitted is first occupied or 

Agenda Item 10
Page 36



brought into use, the parking scheme shown on Drawing No. 00709/12C 
shall be completed and thereafter retained for this purpose. 
REASON: To ensure provision for car parking clear of the highway. 
(Policy  T10, S.B.L.P.R).  

 

5 Before any section or phase of the development herby permitted is first 
occupied or brought into use, all on site vehicular areas shall be surfaced in 
a manner to the Local Planning Authority’s approval so as to ensure 
satisfactory parking of vehicles outside highway limits.  Arrangements shall 
be made for surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so that it does not discharge into the highway. 
REASON: In order to minimise danger, obstruction, and inconvenience to 
users of the highway and of the premises. 

 

6 Before each section or phase of the development hereby permitted is first 
occupied or brought into use, any existing access within the frontage of the 
land to be developed as part of that section or phase shall be permanently 
closed in a manner to the Local Planning Authority’s written approval. 
REASON: In the interest of road safety and to reduce the number of points 
at which traffic will enter and leave the site. 

 

7 Before development begins, a scheme for screen fencing and/or screen 
walling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented 
before any section or phase of the development is first occupied or 
brought into use and thereafter retained. 
REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the area. 
(Policy BE8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

8 Before development begins, samples of the materials to be used for the 
external walls and roofs of all new buildings shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: To control the appearance of the building/s. 
(Policies BE8 & H8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

9 The windows shown on Drawing Nos. 00709/7B,00709/8B and 00709/9B 
shall be permanently glazed with obscured glass. 
REASON: To protect the privacy of the occupiers of adjoining properties. 
(Policy BE8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

10 The existing buildings shall not be demolished before a contract has 
been entered into for carrying out of works of redevelopment of the 
site. 
REASON: To ensure that premature demolition does not occur leaving 
an empty gap in the street scene. 
(Policies BE6 & BE8, S.B.L.P.R). 

 

11 Before development begins, details of the proposed method of surface 
water drainage for the site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage works as 
approved shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details 
before the related section or phase of the development is first occupied 
or brought into use. 
REASON: To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site. 

Agenda Item 10
Page 37



 

12 No development shall commence until wheel-cleaning facilities have been 
provided at all site exits in accordance with a scheme submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved facilities 
shall be installed and made operational before development commences 
and the Site Developer(s) shall ensure that all vehicles exiting the site use 
the approved wheel cleaning facilities. The wheel cleaning facilities shall be 
retained until the development has been substantially completed or until 
such time as the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the roadworks 
necessary to provide adequate and clean access to and from the public 
highway have been completed (apart from final surfacing). 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity and to prevent the deposit of mud 
or other extraneous material on the highway during the construction period. 

 

13 This permission relates only to the details shown on Drawing Nos. 
00709/13A, 00709/1C, 00709/2C, and 00709/3C received 24/12/09 and 
Drawing Nos. 00709/12B, 00709/4D, 00709/7B, 00709/8B and 00709/9B 
received 04/02/10 or to any subsequent appropriately endorsed revised plan. 
REASON: To identify the approved plans and to avoid doubt. 

 
 
Notes to Applicant 
 
1. In accordance with Article 22 of the Town & Country Planning (General 

Development Procedure) Order 1995 (as Amended), the Council hereby 
certify that the proposal as hereby approved conforms with the relevant 
policies of the Development Plan comprising of the Regional Spatial 
Strategy for the East of England (the East of England Plan and the Milton 
Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy), Bedfordshire Structure 
Plan 2011 and the South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review and material 
considerations do not indicate otherwise. The policies which refer are as 
follows: 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
ENV7 - Quality in the Built Environment. 
 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review 
BE6 - Development in Areas of Special Character. 
BE8 - Design and Environmental Considerations. 
H2 - Provision for Housing via 'Fall-in' Sites. 
H3 - Meeting Local Housing Needs. 
H7 - Loss of Residential Accommodation. 
T10 - Parking in New Development. 

 
2. In accordance with Article 22 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Development Procedure) Order 1995 (as Amended), the reason for any 
condition above relates to the Policies as referred to in the Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS), Bedfordshire Structure Plan 2011 (BSP) and the South 
Bedfordshire Local Plan Review (SBLPR). 

 
3. This permission relates only to that required under the Town & Country 

Planning Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other 
enactment or under the Building Regulations. Any other consent or approval 

Agenda Item 10
Page 38



which is necessary must be obtained from the appropriate authority. 
 
4. The applicant/developer is advised that, whilst the Council has no reason to 

believe that this site is contaminated, and is not aware of any potentially 
contaminative past use, it is the developer's responsibility to ensure that final 
ground conditions are fit for the end use of the site. Any staining, odours or 
other indications of contamination discovered during development should be 
reported to the Council's Public Protection Service. Any imported material for 
gardens or landscaping must be of a quality to British Standard for Topsoil, 
BS 3882:2007, as expected by the NHBC and other bodies. 

 
5. The applicant/developer is advised that, due to the nature of the construction 

and surfacing of Bossington Lane where it provides access to the eastern 
section of the site, construction vehicles servicing that section of the site 
shall, wherever possible, load or unload on the highway nearest to the site.  

 
 
DECISION 
 
...................................................................................................................................... 
 
...................................................................................................................................... 
 

Agenda Item 10
Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Page 41



Agenda Item 10
Page 42



Agenda Item 10
Page 43



Agenda Item 10
Page 44



Agenda Item 10
Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



CASE NO.

Date:  04:February:2010

Scale:  1:1250

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

132

10
7

91

71

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

79

107a

2

109

95
a

Cottage

Cooper's

14

MILL LANE

4

33

17
29

25

15

13

27

3 1

69

80

19

66
76

N

S

W E

Agenda Item 11
Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 11 SCHEDULE B 

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/09/06388/RM 
LOCATION The Gables, Mill Lane, Potton, Sandy, SG19 2PG 
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters: Residential development 

following demolition of existing dwelling and 
outbuildings comprising the erection of 13 no. 3 
bedroom dwellings and 1 no. 1 bedroom dwelling 
(pursuant to outline planning permission 
06/00833/OUT). Matters to be considered are 
access, appearance, layout and scale.  

PARISH  Potton 
WARD Potton 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllr D Gurney and Cllr A Lewis 
CASE OFFICER  Godwin Eweka 
DATE REGISTERED  18 November 2009 
EXPIRY DATE  17 February 2010 
APPLICANT   Vigor Homes 
AGENT  Woods Hardwick Ltd 
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

Cllr Lewis – On grounds of privacy and bats nesting 
in the barns 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Full Application - Granted 

 
Site Location:  
 
This site has an area of 0.35 hectares and is located to the north side of Mill Lane 
towards the north western edge of Potton near the junction of Mill Lane with Everton 
Road. This is an L -shaped site with its frontage at Mill Lane. The site presently, 
comprises a bungalow known as 'Fairway' adjacent to the electric sub-station and a 
range of outbuildings to the rear and north of the site which are due to be 
demolished to make way for the proposed residential development.  
 
To the north, the application site abuts a paddock and open countryside, to the 
south it abuts a footpath by Mill Lane frontage where there are two schools (i.e. 
Burgoyne Middle School and Potton Lower School, whilst the east and west 
boundaries adjoin the rear gardens of the adjacent residential properties. The 
surrounding area comprises residential development, paddock and open 
countryside. 
 
This proposal has been advertised in the local press. 
 
 
The Application: 
 
Residential development following demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings 
comprising, the erection of 13no. 3-bedroom dwellings and 1no. 1-bedroom dwelling 
(pursuant to outline planning permission 06/00833/OUT). Matters to be considered 
are access, appearance, layout and scale. 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 49



 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies (PPG & PPS) 
Delivering Sustainable Development (PPS1) 
Housing (PPS3) 
Biodiversity and Geological Conservation (PPS9) 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
Policy SS1 (Achieving Sustainable Development) 
Policy WM6 (Waste Management in Development) 
 
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005) 
 
Bedfordshire Structure Plan 2011 
 
Central Bedfordshire Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
(November 2009) 
 
 DM2; DM3; DM15; DM10; CS1;  
 
Supplementary Planning Document 
 
 Design Guide For Central Bedfordshire (January 2010)-Design Supplement 

(DS1). 
 
South Bedfordshire Local Plan Review Policies 
N/A 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
N/A  
 
Planning History 
 
MB/81/00583/OUT Residential development. (Refused 27/10/1981) 
MB/06/00833/OUT 
 
 
 
MB/08/01979/RM 

Residential development following demolition of existing 
dwelling and outbuildings (All Matters Reserved). Refused 
12/07/06. Subsequent appeal was allowed on 10th January 
2008 (Ref: APP/J0215/A/07/2036015/NWF). 
Residential development following demolition of existing 
dwelling and outbuildings, comprising of the erection of 12no. 
3-bedroom dwellings, 1no. 2-bedroom dwellings and 1no. 4-
bedroom dwelling (pursuant to outline planning permission 
ref: 06/00833/OUT. Matters to be considered are access, 
appearance, layout and scale. Withdrawn 08/01/2009. 
 

 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 50



Potton Town Council The Council still has concerns, despite these having been 
overturned by the Planning Inspectorate, that there will 
continue to be severe problems with the increased traffic 
in Mill Lane. Residents have also complained to the Town 
Council of the close proximity of some house to their 
homes. The Town Council has been informed that there 
are bats living in a barn in this area and this matter needs 
investigation. 

  
Neighbours Four letters of objection have been received. The grounds 

of objection are as follow: 
 
•••• Loss of Visual Amenity: Our property and garden are 

overlooked as this will lead to loss of privacy. Plot 6 
has a window looking directly into two of our 
bedrooms, our kitchen and dining room. Please note 
plot 8 which overlooks countryside does not have a 
side window. 

•••• Overbearing Impact: The construction of plot 6 as 
viewed from our kitchen or dining room is overbearing 
and will significantly and measurably reduce the light 
into these two rooms. 

•••• Proximity of  Development: The houses proposed for 
plots 3 and 4 would be so close to us that not only 
would their upstairs windows overlook every window at 
the rear of our house, with plot 3 being only 18 metres 
from our bedroom. The upstairs windows of the houses 
on plots 1 and 2 would also overlook almost our entire 
back garden, the distance ranging from 9 metres to 
about 25 metres. 

•••• Density: The density of the development as submitted 
in the withdrawn application (08/01979/RM), resulting 
in 14 dwellings and a higher density of 40 dwellings. 
This new proposal will again result in 14 dwellings and 
the same density. 

 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Highways Section No objections subject to conditions. 
Waste Management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ecology 

No objections, subject to condition. It is Council's policy 
that collection crews will not enter onto non-adopted 
roads. Therefore, the applicant needs to be aware that if 
the proposed access road is not to be adopted, a new 
collection point will need to be proposed by the highway 
boundary. 
 
No objection, subject to the imposition of condition prior 
to development. 

 
 
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are: 

Agenda Item 11
Page 51



 
1. Principle of Development 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 

Impact of Development on Character and Appearance of the Area 
Impact of Development on Neighbouring Properties 
Highway Safety Implications 
Biodiversity  Issues 
Planning Obligations 

 
Considerations 
 
1. Principle of Development 
 This development is assessed against Policies CS1; DM2; DM3; DM4; DM10 

and DM15 of the Central Bedfordshire Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies (November 2009). 
 
Potton is considered a 'Minor Service Centre' in the above document, where 
new housing development will help to deliver new community infrastructure and 
facilities that benefit the sustainability of the town. 
 
Policy DM2 states that all proposals for new development should contribute 
towards sustainable building principles...Future new housing will be expected to 
comply with mandatory standards in relation to the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
 
Policy DM3 requires all proposals to be appropriate in scale and design to their 
setting, contributing positively to creating a sense of place, respecting local 
distinctiveness through design and use of materials, efficient use of land, 
respecting amenity of surrounding properties, enhancing community safety and 
complying with current guidance on waste management, provision of hard and 
soft landscaping etc. 
 
Policy DM4 states that within settlement envelopes and in 'Minor Service Centre' 
like Potton, the Council encourages small-scale housing development. 
 
Policy DM10 requires development such as this to have a mix of housing types, 
tenures and sizes in order to meet the needs of all sections of the local 
community by promoting sustainable communities and social cohesion. This 
includes the provision of 'lifetime' homes. One of the main considerations would 
be the existing housing mix of the locally, the location and particular physical 
characteristics of the site, including its accessibility to local services as well as 
the current housing market conditions. 
 
Policy DM15 states that the Council will ensure that where planning applications 
are considered to have an impact on wildlife, whether habitats or species or 
where applications are close to locally designated sites or important species, 
advice will be sought from relevant local organisations and applications 
considered to be harmful to wildlife will be refused. 
 
The proposed site lies within the settlement envelope of Potton where it is 
already predominantly residential in character. The site currently has a vacant 
bungalow and outbuildings on it. 
 
An outline permission had been granted for residential development on this site, 
following an appeal against the Council's decision to refuse permission (ref: 

Agenda Item 11
Page 52



APP/J0215/A/07/2036015 ) on 8th January 2008. The principle of a residential 
development therefore, has already been established.   
 

 
2. Impact of Development on Character and Appearance of the Area 
 The surrounding development comprise a mix of architectural styles of dwellings 

and sizes. The submitted proposal and house types and designs demonstrate a 
traditional two-storey dwellinghouses with complementary front entrance 
canopies and rear gables, together with one and a half brick gauged heads to 
windows. The flat over garage and dark stained weather-boarding designed 
dwelling, provides a variation in design style and appearance to the site and this 
complements the character and appearance of the area. For example, some 
useful design ideas as illustrated by the Council's Design Supplement 1 (DS1) 
have been incorporated into the scheme for example, by applying appropriate 
scale, appearance, height and density. It is considered the proposed residential 
scheme would create and complement local distinctiveness, thus enhancing its 
setting. 
 
The proposed new access into the site from Mill Lane frontage in the southern 
end, has dictated the layout and building line of the dwellings. The four 
prominent dwellings on Mill Lane frontage (i.e. plots 1 and 2) and (plots 13 and 
14), provide attractive facade, including front canopies to the dwellings, 
complemented and defined by picket fencing to the frontages. The garages to 
plots 2 and 3 and 13 and 14 have been designed with hipped roofs in order to 
enhance the overall design of the site, particularly light and visual aspect.  
 
The access to the site is terminated by the corner hayloft property to the north-
east of the site, the turning areas and hardstanding provide the parking for plots 
6, 7 and 8 to the north-west of the site, including visitors parking.  Plot 5 which is 
the flat over garage, provides parking for plot 5 and additional parking for plots 6, 
7 and 8 respectively. The scheme does boasts two parking space per dwelling. 
Where garages are located, in all cases they are recessed behind the front 
elevation of the house in order to ensure a more subservient form of 
development and design and to avoid parked cars dominating the streetscene. 
 
It is considered the L-shaped form of the land and layout does provide a sense 
of enclosure and security to the site. The associated planting, including the 
existing trees, would provide good screening to the site, particularly to the 
northern part where it adjoins the open countryside. The eastern part of the site 
along the boundary of plots 9, 10, 11 and 12 and the rear of properties at 
Everton Road would be adequately screened, together with other associated 
soft landscaping to the frontages of the proposed properties. 
 
The site currently benefits from some trees with little significance. However, 
there are a number of hedges that should be maintained and retained at least 
during construction to act as a suitable screen from adjoining properties.  The 
trees identified as H10 and G11 in the submitted topographical survey would 
appear to be on the grounds of the neighbouring property. It is considered 
protection would be required during construction of development. 
 
It is anticipated that the materials for the development would follow the 
established pattern of traditional buildings constructed from local sourced 
materials. The proposed development therefore, is not likely to result in any 

Agenda Item 11
Page 53



adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area.   
 

 
3. Impact of Development on Neighbouring Properties 
 The proposed development has been sited to respect and safeguard the 

amenities of surrounding properties.  The layout of the dwellings demonstrates 
adequate spacing around them in terms of achieving adequate amenity space to 
individual property. The proposed properties to the east of the site shares a 
boundary with the residential properties at Everton Road and are at least 29 
metres from the new development as their rear gardens back onto the proposed 
site.  As such, there would be no loss of light/privacy or overbearing impact on 
these dwellings. Plots 1 and 2 are 6 metres from the property at Number 4 and 
this is an adequate space to ensure that there would be no overbearing impact. 
However, in terms of overlooking from the first floor Bedroom 1 and ensuite 
bathroom of plot 1, the distance is between 10 metres and 11 metres and this is 
not considered detrimental to the owner-occupiers of Number 4 Mill Lane, given 
the orientation of the view. Similarly, it is not considered there is likely to be any 
adverse impact from the future occupants of plots 3 and 4.  
 
The aspect from plots 3 and 4 is unlikely to cause any adverse visual impact to 
the owner-occupiers of Number 4 Mill Lane due to the angle from the upper 
floors of plots 3 and 4. The property at Number 4 Mill Lane has an extensive rear 
garden which extends beyond the garages of plots 1, 2 and 3 as well as the 
entire plots 3 and 4 properties. Whilst it is acknowledged there would be some 
overlooking from plots 3 and 4 to the rear garden of Number 4, it is not 
considered any detriment would be caused as a result, given the siting of the 
new dwellings. Any direct overlooking from the upper floor accommodation of 
plots 3 and 4 would be to the bottom end of the rear garden of Number 4 Mill 
Lane, which stands at a distance of 11.2 metres away and this is not viewed as 
being unreasonable.Moreover, plots 3 and 4 are adequately removed from the 
adjoining neighbour to ensure that they are not overbearing or give rise to a 
material loss of light. 
 
Numbers 6, 8, 10, 12 and 14 Mill Lane would not suffer an unreasonable impact 
in terms of loss of light, privacy, overlooking or overbearing impact. These 
properties have a varying rear garden sizes of between 18 metres and 23 
metres adjoining the site. Plots 5 and 6 will have a visual impact on the dwellings 
in Everton Road, but given the length of the adjacent gardens it is not 
considered that the resulting relationship would give an overbearing impact or 
material loss of light. It is considered therefore, that this development is not likely 
to result in any detriment to these adjoining residents at Mill Lane. 
 

 
4. Highway Safety Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Highway Section has considered this proposal and has advised accordingly. 
It is considered that the rear access door to the garage for plot 2 is not feasible 
as it would have to be accessed from plot 1 and the same for plot 13 where 
access would be in plot 14 garden. The Highway Section has advised that the 
proposed new access shall be 2.4m x 43.0m with visibility splay requirement. 
Plot 13: A 1.8m x 1.8m pedestrian visibility splay should be provided at the east 
side of the access of the development and Mill Lane. 
 
The verge in front of the plot should be a footpath for pedestrian use to plots 5 to 

Agenda Item 11
Page 54



 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8, as there is a lot of vehicular movement within this area. Also for adoption 
purposes, the Council would require a footpath here as this would be the only 
grass within the site which would need maintaining. Overall, the development is 
considered acceptable on highway grounds, subject to conditions. 
 
Biodiversity Issues 
Under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and PPS9, the 
Council must have regard to the impact of the proposal on biodiversity in its 
determination of the application. 
 
This development has attracted the submission of 'Bat Inspection Report' which 
was prepared by ACD Ecology on behalf of the developer. It was concluded that 
the buildings comprise mainly of materials that are considered unsuitable for 
typical bat roosts. They conclude that the open nature of the internal layout of 
the buildings with all areas being visible makes it unlikely to support bat 
populations. Therefore, the buildings were determined to possess limited 
features which could be exploited by Bats and have accordingly, assigned 
ratings to the existing outbuildings on site. For example, buildings with low to 
negligible Bat roost potential are Buildings B1 and B5 and buildings with 
negligible Bat roost potential are Buildings B2, B3, B4 and B6. 
 
The report concludes that in view of the buildings having negligible or low bat 
roost potential, it is not envisaged that further survey would be required, but a 
'soft-approach' be adopted for demolition of the buildings with low-to-negligible 
potential (B1 and B5). Furthermore, that a 'soft approach' to demolition would 
require a full briefing of all personnel involved. Clear instruction should be given 
to cease work immediately, if a bat is encountered and to allow a licensed bat 
worker to attend to the bat(s). The 'soft approach' to the roof demolition for 
buildings would comprise: 
 
• Removal of roof panels by hand; 
• Careful removal by hand (using a crowbar, if necessary) of any soft boxes; 
• Careful removal by hand of under-felting and removal by hand of lead 

flashing. 
The report also noted that there are bird nesting sites in the barn of B5 and it 
must be noted that these are protected during the bird nesting season from 
March-August. The report recommends that if demolition is proposed within this 
period, a further inspection should be carried out. 
 

The Council's Ecology has advised that there does not seem to be sufficient 
evidence to refuse the demolition on the possibility of the bats roosting in the 
open barn. Documentation from 2006 supports the case that the properties are 
not an established roost . However, it would have been far better to have had 
the recent Bat Survey undertaken during the summer months ,which as a first 
site visit was undertaken in May would have been feasible.  

There is no dispute about whether bats are present in the area and are feeding 
as the Survey suggests over the rough grassland ,hedges and trees locally. Bats 
are mobile creatures and will colonise suitable buildings and trees, depending 
on the needs of the species.  

The November study should have been able to determine whether bats were 
hibernating at the site. There appears to be no evidence of this.  

Agenda Item 11
Page 55



6 
 
 

 
Planning Obligations 
This development does not attract any financial contribution towards local 
infrastructure or affordable housing because the outline decision was made on 
8th January 2008, following an appeal decision and before the adoption of the 
Council's Planning Obligations Strategy (2008).  
 

 
Reasons for Granting 
That a residential development is considered acceptable by virtue of its location 
within the settlement envelope of Potton and as a previously developed site. It is 
considered the development satisfies Policies CS1; DM2; DM3; DM10 and DM15 of 
the Central Bedfordshire Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
(November 2009). 
 
Recommendation 
That Planning Permission be granted subject to the following: 
 

1 The permission shall extend only to the application as amended by 
16374/100C; 1005C; 104A; 107A; 108B and 109A received 25th January 
2010. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
implemented in accordance with the plans formally approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

2 A scheme shall be submitted for written approval by the Local Planning 
Authority setting out the details of the materials to be used for the external 
walls and roof.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the building and of the area 
generally. 

 

3 Prior to the first occupation of the building the first floor windows in 
the side  elevation of plots 6 and 8 of the development shall be fitted 
with obscured glass of a type to substantially restrict vision through it 
at all times, and restriction on its opening, details of which shall have 
been previously submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining 
properties. 

 

4 Notwithstanding any provision of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development Order) 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification), no works shall be commenced for 
the extension of the buildings, any material alteration of its external 
appearance (including additional openings) or the erection of any building or 
structure within its curtilage until detailed plans and elevations have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

 

Agenda Item 11
Page 56



5 No building shall be occupied until the junction of the proposed vehicular 
access with the highway has been constructed in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to 
users of the highway and the premises. 

 

6 Before the access is first brought into use a triangular vision splay shall be 
provided on each side of the new accesses and shall measure 1.8m along 
the fence, wall,hedge or other means of definition of the front boundary of 
the site, and 1.8m measured into the site at right angles to the same line 
along the side of the new access drive. The vision splays so described and 
on land under the applicant's control shall be maintained free of any 
obstruction to visibility exceeding a height of 600mm above the adjoining 
footway level. 
 
Reason:To provide adequate visibility between the existing highway and the 
proposed accesses, and to make the accesses safe and convenient for the 
traffic which is likely to use them. 

 

7 Visibility splays shall be provided at the junction of the accesses with Mill 
Lane before the development is brought into use. The minimum dimensions 
to provide the required splay lines shall be 2.4m measured along the centre 
line of the proposed access from its junction with the channel of the public 
highway and 43.0m measured from the centre line of the proposed access 
along the line of the channel of the public highway. The required vision 
splays shall, on land in the applicant's control, be kept free of any 
obstruction. 
 
Reason: To provide adequate visibility between the existing highway and the 
proposed accesses, and to make the accesses safe and convenient for the 
traffic which is likely to use them. 
 

 

8 Before the premises are occupied the on site vehicular areas shall be 
constructed and surfaced in a stable and durable manner in accordance with 
details to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage from the site to soak 
away within the site so that it does not discharge into the highway or into the 
main drainage system. 
 
Reason: To avoid the carriage of mud or other extraneous material or 
surface water from the site so as to safeguard the interest of highway safety 
and reduce the risk of flooding and to minimise inconvenience to users of the 
premises and ensure satisfactory parking of vehicles outside highway limits . 
 

 

9 Before the new access is first brought into use, any existing access within 
the frontage of the land to be developed, not incorporated in the access 
hereby approved shall be closed in a manner to the Local Planning 
Authority's written approval.  
 
Reason:In the interest of road safety and to reduce the number of points at 
which traffic will enter and leave the public highway. 

Agenda Item 11
Page 57



 

10 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General 
Permitted Development Order 1995, or any amendments thereto, the garage 
accommodation on the site shall not be used for any purpose, other than as 
garage accommodation, unless permission has been granted by the Local 
Planning Authority on an application made for that purpose.  
 
Reason: To retain off-street parking provision and thereby minimise the 
potential for on-street parking which could adversely affect the convenience 
of road users. 
 

 

11 The turning space for vehicles illustrated on the approved drawing No 
16374/1005C shall be constructed before the development is first brought 
into use. (HC 27) 
 
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn outside the highway 
limits thereby avoiding the reversing of vehicles on to the highway. 

 

12 No development shall commence until a wheel cleaning facility has 
been provided at all site exits in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The wheel cleaner(s) shall be removed from the site once the 
roadworks necessary to provide adequate access from the public 
highway have been completed (apart from final surfacing) to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity and to prevent the deposit of 
mud or other extraneous material on the highway during the 
construction period. 

 

13 Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for on 
site parking for construction workers for the duration of the construction 
period has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented throughout the construction 
period.  
 
Reason:To ensure adequate off street parking during construction in the 
interests of road safety. 

 

14 The proposed development shall be carried out and completed in all 
respects in accordance with the access siting and layout and bin collection 
points illustrated on the approved drawing No. 16374/1005C and defined by 
this permission and, notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country 
Planning General Permitted Development Order 1995, (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) there shall be no variation without the 
prior approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development of the site is completed insofar as 
its various parts are interrelated and dependent one upon another and to 
provide adequate and appropriate access  arrangements at all times.  

 

15 The 2.0m wide service strip frontage of plot 4 shall be footpath and not 

Agenda Item 11
Page 58



verge. 
 
Reason:To provide a continued pedestrian footpath. 

 

16 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme setting out 
measures for protecting all trees, shrubs and other natural features 
during construction work shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  No work shall commence on site until 
all trees, shrubs and features to be protected are fenced with 2.3 high 
weldmesh fencing securely mounted on standard scaffolding poles 
driven firmly in the ground in accordance with 
BS 5837:2005; 

•••• for trees and shrubs the fencing shall follow a line 1.0m 
outside the furthest extent of the crown spread, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

•••• for upright growing trees at a radius from the trunk not less 
than 6.0m, or two thirds of the height of the tree whichever is 
the greater; 

•••• for other natural features along a line to be approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of the works on the 
site. No unauthorised access or placement of goods, fuels or 
chemicals, soil or other materials shall take place inside the fenced 
area.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the existing trees on the site in the interests of 
visual amenity. 

 

23 Details of precautionary measures to be implemented during 
demolition works, including the removal of roof panels, soft boxes 
under-felting and lead flashing by hand shall be undertaken as outlined 
in the submitted Bat Inspection Survey to avoid impacts on protected 
species, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to development commencing. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the details approved. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the environment and protected species and 
in accordance with Policy DM15 of the Central Bedfordshire Core 
Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) and PPS9 
(Biodiversity and Geological Conservation). 
 

 
 
Notes to Applicant 
 
1. The applicant is advised that no works associated with the construction of 

the vehicular access should be carried out within the confines of the public 
highway without prior consent, in writing, of the Central Bedfordshire 
Council. Upon receipt of this Notice of Planning Approval, the applicant is 
advised to write to Central Bedfordshire Council's Highway Help Desk, 
P.O.Box 1395, Bedford, MK42 5AN quoting the Planning Application number 
and supplying a copy of the Decision Notice and a copy of the approved 
plan.  

Agenda Item 11
Page 59



 
This will enable the necessary consent and  procedures under Section 184 
of the Highways Act to be implemented. The applicant is also advised that if 
any of the works associated with the construction of the vehicular access 
affects or requires the removal and/or the relocation of any equipment, 
apparatus or structures (e.g. street name plates, bus stop signs or shelters, 
statutory authority equipment etc.) then the applicant will be required to bear 
the cost of such removal or alteration. 

 
2. The applicant is advised that, under the provisions of the Highways Act 

1980, no part of the structure, including foundations and surface water 
hardware shall be erected or installed in, under or overhanging the public 
highway and no window, door or gate shall be fixed so as to open outwards 
into the highway. 

 
3. The Highway Authority has the power under Section 143 of the Highways 

Act 1980, to remove any structure erected on a highway. 
 
4. The applicant is advised that in order to comply with Condition 5 of this 

permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an 
agreement with Central Bedfordshire Council as Highway Authority under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion 
of the access and associated road improvements. Further details can be 
obtained from the Development Planning and Control Group, Central 
Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford 
SG17 5TQ. 

 
5. The applicant is advised that the requirements of the New Roads and Street 

Works Act 1991 will apply to any works undertaken within the limits of the 
existing public highway. Further details can be obtained from the Traffic 
Management Group Highways and Transport Division, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, P.O. Box 1395, Bedford, MK42 5AN. 

 
6. The applicant is advised that photographs of the existing highway that is to 

be used for access and delivery of materials will be required by the Local 
Highway Authority. Any subsequent damage to the public highway resulting 
from the works as shown by the photographs, including damage caused by 
delivery vehicles to the works, will be made good to the satisfaction of the 
Local Highway Authority and at the expense of the applicant. Attention is 
drawn to Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 in this 
respect. 

 
7. The applicant is advised that if it is the intention to request Central 

Bedfordshire Council as Local Highway Authority, to adopt the proposed 
highways as maintainable at the public expense then details of the 
specification, layout and alignment, width and levels of the said highways 
together with all the necessary highway and drainage arrangements, 
including run off calculations shall be submitted to the Development 
Planning and Control Group, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, 
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ . No 
development shall commence until the details have been approved in writing 
and an Agreement made under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 is in 
place. 

Agenda Item 11
Page 60



 
8. The applicant is advised that the closure of existing access shall include the 

reinstatement of the highway to include any footway, verge and kerbing in a 
manner to be agreed in writing with Central Bedfordshire Council's Customer 
Contact Centre on 0300 300 8049. No work shall be carried out within the 
confines of the public highway without prior consent. The applicant will also 
be expected to bear all costs involved in closing the access. 

 
9. The applicant is advised that all cycle parking to be provided within the site 

shall be designed in accordance with the Bedfordshire County Council's 
'Cycle Parking Guidance - August 2006'. 

 
 
DECISION 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



CASE NO.

Date:  04:February:2010

Scale:  1:2500

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Agenda Item 12
Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 12 SCHEDULE C 

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/09/06583/CA 
LOCATION Clubhouse, Rectory Road, Steppingley, Bedford, 

MK45 5AT 
PROPOSAL Conservation Area Consent:  Demolition of 

existing Cricket Pavilion.  
PARISH  Steppingley 
WARD Flitwick West 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllr Gale & Cllr Male  
CASE OFFICER  Hannah Pattinson 
DATE REGISTERED  02 December 2009 
EXPIRY DATE  27 January 2010 
APPLICANT   Steppingley Parish Council 
AGENT   
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

 Agent is relative of Councillor  

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Conservation Area - Granted 

 
Site Location:  
 
The application site is at Rectory Road, Steppingley and is also known as the 
Steppingley Club House & Association Playing Fields. The existing pavilion is a 
brick built building of poor construction and design. 
 
The pavilion is located at the western side of the playing fields to the northern end of 
the rear gardens of the adjacent houses along Rectory Road. 
 
The Application: 
 
The pavilion is located within the Conservation Area for Steppingley and as such 
Conservation Area consent is sought for demolition. Planning permission has been 
sought separately for a new replacement pavilion. 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies (PPG & PPS) 
 
PPS 1 Delivering Sustainable Development 
PPS 2 Green Belts 
PPG 17 Sport & Recreation 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
 
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005) 
 
Core Strategy & Development Management Policies (November 2009) 

Agenda Item 12
Page 65



 
There are no relevant policies 
 
Planning History 
 
There is no relevant planning history 
 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 

 
Steppingley Parish 
Council 

No comments received 

  
Neighbours No comments received 

 
Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Tree & Landscape No objections. The Lime tree nearby needs tree protection 

measures, as does the Holly hedge to the rear. Conditions 
required as follows:- 
1 Protective fencing for the Lime tree and Hedge. 
2.No storage of plant/materials within the protected area. 
3.No washing of plant/equipment so as to allow run off to 
contaminate the root area of the tree/hedge  

  
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are; 
 
1. Impact upon the Conservation Area 

 
Considerations 
 
1. Impact upon the Conservation Area 
  

It is proposed to demolish and replace the existing pavilion. The existing pavilion 
is a single storey building constructed of brick under an asbestos roof. 
 
The building is not considered to be in character with the other properties on 
Rectory Road, Steppingley.  
 
The main consideration is whether the building preserves or enhances the 
Conservation Area. If it is considered that the building does not preserve or 
enhance the Conservation Area then Conservation Area Consent would 
normally be forthcoming. The demolition of this building will in this instance also 
provide the opportunity for a replacement pavilion to be provided (planning 
application ref: CB/09/06581/FULL). 
 
In this particular situation the pavilion proposed to be demolished is not 
considered to be either in a sound condition and neither does it merit any 
aesthetic or historic features. It is acknowledged though that due to its location it 
does play a role in the streetscene along Rectory Road although due to its poor 
construction its current value in the Conservation Area is considered to be low. 

Agenda Item 12
Page 66



 
As such the principle of the demolition of the pavilion is supported subject to the 
clearance of the site and the removal of all detritus. 

 
Reasons for Granting 
 
It is not considered that the demolition of the pavilion would have a detrimental 
impact upon the Conservation Area. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Conservation Area Consent be granted subject to the following: 
 

1 The works hereby approved shall be commenced within three years of the 
date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, to ensure that this consent does not continue 
in existence indefinitely if the development to which it relates is not carried out. 

 

2 No work shall commence on site until all trees, shrubs and features on 
the western boundary of the site are protected with a 2.3 high weldmesh 
fence securely mounted on standard scaffolding poles driven firmly in 
the ground in accordance with BS 5837:2005; 

•••• for trees and shrubs the fencing shall follow a line 1.0m 
outside the furthest extent of the crown spread, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

•••• for upright growing trees at a radius from the trunk not less 
than 6.0m, or two thirds of the height of the tree whichever is 
the greater; 

 
Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of the works on the 
site. No unauthorised access or placement of goods, fuels or chemicals, 
soil or other materials shall take place inside the fenced area.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the existing trees on the site in the interests of 
visual amenity. 

 

3 The demolition works hereby approved shall be completed within three 
months from the date of commencement of this Conservation Area Consent 
and all of the materials and fabric from the demolished building shall be 
removed from the site unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

 
 
DECISION 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 

Agenda Item 12
Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



CASE NO.

Date:  04:February:2010

Scale:  1:2500

Map Sheet No

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Central Bedfordshire Council
Licence No. 100049029 (2009)

N

S

W E

Agenda Item 13
Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item No. 13 SCHEDULE C 

  
APPLICATION NUMBER CB/09/06581/FULL 
LOCATION Clubhouse, Rectory Road, Steppingley, Bedford, 

MK45 5AT 
PROPOSAL Full:  Erection of new cricket pavillion to replace 

existing.  
PARISH  Steppingley 
WARD Flitwick West 
WARD COUNCILLORS Cllr Gale & Cllr Male  
CASE OFFICER  Hannah Pattinson 
DATE REGISTERED  02 December 2009 
EXPIRY DATE  27 January 2010 
APPLICANT  Steppingley Parish Council 
AGENT   
REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE TO 
DETERMINE 

Agent related directly to Councillor  

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION 

 
Full Application - Granted 

 
Site Location:  
 
The application site is at Rectory Road, Steppingley, also known as the Steppingley 
Club House and associated playing fields. The existing pavilion is a brick built 
building of poor construction and design. 
 
The pavilion is located at the western edge of the playing fields and to the northern 
end of the rear gardens of the adjacent houses along Rectory Road. 
 
Steppingley has no settlement envelope and therefore the site is considered to be 
open countryside. In addition the application site is located within a Conservation 
Area and the South Bedfordshire Green Belt. 
 
There is no existing parking provision on the site. 
 
The Application: 
 
This planning application seeks planning permission for a replacement pavilion 
following the demolition of the existing pavilion. Conservation Area Consent 
(Planning Ref: CB/09/06583/CA) for demolition of the existing pavilion has been 
applied for separately. It is proposed that the new pavilion would be located in the 
same position as the existing and would also be single storey. 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES: 
 
National Policies (PPG & PPS) 
 
PPS1  Delivering Sustainable Development 
PPG2  Green Belts 
PPG17 Sport and Recreation 

Agenda Item 13
Page 71



 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
East of England Plan (May 2008) 
 
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005) 
 
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2009) 
 
There are no relevant policies 
 
Planning History 
 
There is no relevant planning history 
 
Representations: 
(Parish & Neighbours) 

 
Steppingley Parish 
Council 

No comments received 

  
Neighbours No comments received 
  

Consultations/Publicity responses 
 
Public Protection North Acceptable and suggested conditions. 
Disability Discrimination 
Officer 

Comments that whilst provision has been made inside the 
pavilion for an accessible toilet there does not appear to 
be a level access to the building for wheelchair users, 
there only appears to be steps at the front. 

Tree & Landscape 
Officer 

No objections. The following conditions should be 
applied:- 
1. Protective fencing in line with BS 5837 ( 2005 ), to 
protect the adjacent Lime tree and the Holly hedge to the 
rear. 
2. No storage of plant/materials within the protected area. 
3. A landscape scheme to infill the gaps in the Holly 
hedge. 

 
Determining Issues 
 
The main considerations of the application are; 
 
1. Impact upon the Character & Appearance of the Area & the Green Belt 
2. Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 
3. Other Considerations 

 
Considerations 
 
1. Impact upon the Character & Appearance of the Area & the Green Belt 
 The proposed new pavilion would be in the same location as the existing 

pavilion and as such would have the same relationship to both the playing fields 
and the adjacent residential properties. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 72



 
The proposal is for a single storey pavilion which has been designed to be 
sympathetic to the character & appearance of the area & the Green Belt. 
 
In summary it is considered that the principle of locating another pavilion in the 
location of the existing is acceptable. Furthermore it is considered that the 
replacement pavilion building would be more aesthetically pleasing than the 
existing building. 

 
2. Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 
 The replacement building would be in the same location as the existing. In 

addition no windows have been proposed in the western elevation facing 
towards adjacent residential properties. Therefore it is considered that the 
development would not result in an over bearing impact in terms of loss of 
privacy or light. 
 
It is acknowledged that the proposed pavilion would be in relatively close 
proximity to neighbouring residential properties but is not considered that 
planning conditions would be required in this situation. 

 
3. Other Considerations 
 The Disability Discrimination Officer has commented that no wheelchair access 

has been provided to the proposed pavilion. As such a condition would be added 
to any planning permission requiring details of wheelchair access to be provided. 
 
The Tree and Landscape Officer has confirmed that they are not raising any 
objection subject to relevant conditions. 

 
Reasons for Granting 
 
The proposal would not result in detrimental impact upon the character or 
appearance of the area or the Green Belt. In addition the proposal is in accordance 
with guidance contained within PPG2.  
 
Recommendation 
 
That Planning Permission be granted subject to the following: 
 

1 The development hereby approved shall be commenced within three years 
of the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 which is designed to ensure that a planning permission does not 
continue in existence indefinitely if the development to which it relates is not 
carried out. 

 

2 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme showing 
wheelchair access to be provided for the convenience of disabled 
persons shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the District 
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented 
before the development is first occupied or brought into use. 
 
REASON: To safeguard the interests of disabled persons. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 73



 

3 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme setting out 
measures for protecting all trees, shrubs and other natural features 
during construction work shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  No work shall commence on site until 
all trees, shrubs and features to be protected are fenced with 2.3 high 
weldmesh fencing securely mounted on standard scaffolding poles 
driven firmly in the ground in accordance with 
BS 5837:2005; 
 

•••• for trees and shrubs the fencing shall follow a line 1.0m 
outside the furthest extent of the crown spread, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

•••• for upright growing trees at a radius from the trunk not less 
than 6.0m, or two thirds of the height of the tree whichever is 
the greater; 

•••• for other natural features along a line to be approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of the works on the 
site.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the existing trees on the site in the interests of 
visual amenity. 

 

4 Prior to the commencement of development full details of both hard 
and soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  These details shall include:- 
 
•••• planting plans to gap up the existing holly hedge on the western 

side of the site; 
•••• cultivation details including operations required to establish new 

planting; 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details during the first planting season following commencement of 
development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the landscaping is carried out within a 
reasonable period in the interest of the visual amenities of the area.  

 
DECISION 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
....................................................................................................................................... 
 
  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 74


	Agenda
	7 Planning Enforcement Cases Where Formal Action Has Been Taken
	item 7 Enforcement Notices Feb 17 2010

	8 Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order No. 13/2009 (Land at the rear of 22 Heath Park Drive, Leighton Buzzard)
	9 Planning Application No. CB/09/07039/FULL
	item 9 097039 report

	10 Planning Application No. CB/09/07065/FULL
	item 10 0907065 rep
	item 10 app Elm Lodge001

	11 Planning Application No. CB/09/06388
	item 11 0906388 rep

	12 Planning Application No. CB/09/06583/CA
	Item 12 0906583 report

	13 Planning Application No. CB/09/06581/FULL
	Item 13 0906581 report


